DIVISIONS IN SUDAN'S RULING PARTY AND THE THREAT TO THE COUNTRY'S FUTURE STABILITY

Africa Report N°174 – 4 May 2011



TABLE OF CONTENTS

EX	KECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
П.	THE ISLAMIC MOVEMENT: A FRONT SEEKING AN ISLAMIC STATE	2
	A. Creating a Sudanese Identity	
	B. EXPANSION TO AN ISLAMIC FRONT	
	Infiltration of the security apparatus	
	Organisation and consolidation during Nimeri's regime	
	3. Lost opportunity: The Koka-Dam Declaration	
	4. The NIF frustrated: The third democratic period, 1986-1989	
	5. The decision to take power	
Ш	. THE SALVATION REGIME 1989-2000	8
	A. PARALLEL SYSTEMS OF GOVERNANCE – THE NIF AND THE STATE	8
	B. THE POLITICAL ORGANISATION – THE NATIONAL CONGRESS	10
	C. The Split	11
IV	. CORRUPTION OF POWER AND MONEY: THE SECOND DECADE	
	OF THE "ISLAMIST" REGIME	13
	A. CENTRALISATION OF POWER	13
	B. The Security Services	14
	C. Frustrations after the April 2010 Elections – Collapse of the Shura	15
	D. REWARDS AND PATRONAGE	17
	1. The economy of the Islamists	17
	2. Selective rewards	19
	3. The federal governance system	20
V.	NCP SURVIVAL IN THE WAKE OF THE SOUTH'S SECESSION	21
	A. ANOTHER LOST OPPORTUNITY – THE CPA	21
	B. CHALLENGES FACING THE NORTH	22
	A divided party lacking a coherent vision	22
	2. Manipulating the international community	24
	3. The savannah belt – the new South?	
	4. The need for reform	
	5. What the international community can do	
VI.	. CONCLUSION	30
AP	PPENDICES	
A.	MAP OF SUDAN WITH 1956 NORTH-SOUTH BORDER	31
B.	GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND PERSONALITIES	32
C.	GLOSSARY OF MAIN PARTIES, ORGANISATIONS AND ACTS	34
	ABOUT THE INTERNATIONAL CRISIS GROUP	
E.	CRISIS GROUP REPORTS AND BRIEFINGS ON AFRICA SINCE 2008	38
F	CRISIS GROUP ROARD OF TRUSTERS	40



Africa Report N°174 4 May 2011

DIVISIONS IN SUDAN'S RULING PARTY AND THE THREAT TO THE COUNTRY'S FUTURE STABILITY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

When the South officially secedes, on 9 July 2011, the North's problems will change little. The National Congress Party (NCP) has not addressed the root causes of Sudan's chronic conflicts and has exacerbated ethnic and regional divisions. Facing multiple security, political, social and economic challenges, it is deeply divided over the way forward. Its security hardliners see these as minor issues, not imminent threats to their survival, and remain committed to a military solution to chronic instability. Others call for internal party reform – a "second republic" - to address the NCP's problems but are giving little thought to resolving those of the country. The party has mobilised its security apparatus to suppress any revolts, has decided to end the debate about Sudan's diversity and identity, remains committed to an Arab-Islamic identity for all Sudanese and keeping Sharia and is ready to subdivide key states to accommodate political barons. These are ad-hoc decisions that set the stage for continued violence that may not be containable and could lead to further fragmentation of the country.

Power is now increasingly centralised in a small clique around President Bashir. However, this centralisation is not reflected in the armed forces. Concerned about a possible coup, he and close associates have fragmented the security services and have come to rely increasingly on personal loyalty and tribal allegiances to remain in power. Meanwhile, their party has been allowed to flounder, having long ago lost its strategic vision and policy coherence. Deeply divided and more concerned with staying in power, the leadership more often reacts to events rather than implements a well-thought-out national program. This is best illustrated by the protracted, very public dispute between Nafie Ali Nafie (NCP deputy chairman for organisational affairs and presidential adviser) and Ali Osman Taha (second vice president of Sudan) and the wildly diverging statements made by party leaders in the run-up to the South's self-determination referendum. The recent dismissal from his posts of the formerly powerful Salah Gosh reflects divisions within the NCP that have the potential to lead to the party's collapse or a coup.

Bashir, Nafie and the security hardliners have concluded that the opposition parties are very weak and reject their call for a more inclusive constitutional conference to draft a permanent constitution after the South secedes in July. They think they have the situation in Darfur under control and discount the possibility of conflict in the transitional areas of Southern Kordofan and the Blue Nile, believing that those regions are divided, and their military forces are not an imminent threat to Khartoum now that the South is focused on other issues. They continue to pursue divide and rule tactics to prevent the emergence of a unified counterweight to NCP dominance of the centre. Taha and more pragmatic allies are willing to negotiate with other political forces but are undermined by the security hardliners. They also seemingly remain committed to the party's goal of imposing an Arab-Islamic identify on all of what remains of Sudan – an extremely divisive issue in a country that still includes hundreds of ethnic and linguistic groups.

In the absence of accountability, the leadership enjoys absolute freedom and has institutionalised corruption to its benefit, in the process rewarding political barons who can deliver their constituencies by giving them lucrative government positions to maintain their loyalty. The governors of each state run their own patronage network within their respective regions.

Despite the seemingly successful conclusion of the 2005 Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA), the accord has failed to resolve the issues that drive chronic conflict in Sudan. It was intended to lead to the "democratic transformation" of the country. However, during its six year interim period (to end formally in July), the NCP resisted meaningful implementation of many provisions, because they would seriously threaten its grip on power. The opportunity to maintain Sudan's unity and to establish a stable, democratic state was lost. Not surprisingly, Southerners chose separation when they voted in January 2011.

The remainder of the country thus remains saddled with the "Sudan Problem", where power, resources and development continue to be overly concentrated in the centre, at the expense of and to the exasperation of the peripheries. A "new south" is emerging in the hitherto transitional areas of Abyei, Southern Kordofan and Blue Nile that – along with Darfur, the East and other marginal areas – continues to chafe under the domination of the NCP. Unless their grievances are addressed by a more inclusive government, Sudan risks more violence and disintegration.

The call by the opposition parties for a wider constitutional review conference suggests a way forward. Such a conference should be seen as a more extensive national consultative process, to accommodate the popular consultations in the transitional areas and the Darfur people-topeople dialogue. Those latter two processes, if run separately, will not lead to political stability and lasting peace in the whole country. The cardinal issue of governance must be addressed nationally. To encourage this, a united international community, particularly the African Union (AU), Arab League and the UN, should put pressure on the NCP to accept a free and unhindered national dialogue to create a national stabilisation program that includes defined principles for establishing an inclusive constitutional arrangement accepted by all.

Khartoum/Nairobi/Brussels, 4 May 2011

Africa Report N°174 4 May 2011

DIVISIONS IN SUDAN'S RULING PARTY AND THE THREAT TO THE COUNTRY'S FUTURE STABILITY

I. INTRODUCTION

The Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA), designed to give Sudanese unity one more chance, failed in that important aspect when Southerners overwhelmingly chose independence in their January 2011 referendum. Sudanese are just starting to comprehend the consequences of the separation; their search for lasting peace and stability continues. This report is about some of the key challenges to what remains of Sudan.

In Sudan the cardinal problem has always been governance. For the past two decades, that has meant the rule of the National Islamic Front (NIF) and its successor, the National Congress Party (NCP). The NIF overthrew the democratically-elected government in 1989 after it had agreed with the Southern rebellion led by the Sudan Peoples Liberation Army/Movement (SPLA/M) to negotiate a new constitutional arrangement that would genuinely respect the rights of all citizens and accept the country's diversity of cultures and regions. The Islamists¹ could not accept this, because it would mean abolishing recently implemented Sharia (Islamic law) and thwart their attempts to create an Islamic state.

They saw no benefit in multiparty democracy or a diverse, even if united, Sudan. Instead, they planned to create an Islamic state with an Arab-Islamic identity. After the Islamists seized power, the "Salvation Regime" quickly cleansed all government institutions of opponents and took full control of society. The regime imposed conservative Islamic morals and announced a jihad on its enemies in the South, Southern Kordofan (Nuba Mountains) and Blue Nile. The "federal" and "popular congress" system it established was actually heavily centralised. All this aggravated

historic grievances that escalated the war in those areas and the East, as well, eventually, as the Darfur crisis.

Bitterly divided over power and their movement's direction, the Islamists split ten years later into two parties: the NCP, which retained control, and the Popular Congress Party (PCP), which is now one of its leading opponents. The NCP, burdened by international sanctions, gradually compromised its ideology and evolved into a party that uses control of the state to capture the economy and accumulate wealth. To retain power, it expanded a patronage system, camouflaged by ethnic Arabic supremacy and loyalty to Islam. It also centralised decision-making and tried to control all major aspects of society – social, economic and political – using a mixed state and party security apparatus. The extensive use of security forces further aggravated local disputes.

The NCP probably already knew in 2005 that the CPA could lead to the South's separation and hence implemented its provisions selectively so as at least not to lose power. In addition, the need to execute the agreement's provisions gave the regime some leverage and international immunity. But selective implementation cost Sudan yet another opportunity to create a durable peace and a last chance to maintain unity. The South will now go its own way, but the remainder of Sudan is still burdened by serious conflicts. The prerequisite for political settlement of the conflicts in Darfur, as well as in Southern Kordofan, the Blue Nile and the East, is government reform. This could be achieved in a constitutional arrangement replacing the current interim national constitution and guaranteeing the rights of these culturally and ethnically diverse regions.

So far, however, the NCP is relying on dubious legal legitimacy (acquired by heavily-manipulated elections in April 2010), maintaining its political-Islam rhetoric (including insistence on imposing Sharia), and reaffirming the country's Arab-Islamic identity (thus refusing to respect the diverse identities that will remain in Sudan and creating the conditions for another possible confrontation between the centre and the peripheries). Given its history and interests, it appears unlikely that the regime is willing to make the genuine reforms necessary for peace and stability.

¹ Sudanese Islamists were loosely organised under the NIF at this time. Many of its supporters were not formal members. The NCP was not founded until 1998. An Islamist (or Islamic activist) is a follower of Islam with a broader religious, political, social or – in a small minority of cases – violent jihadi agenda. See Crisis Group Middle East/North Africa Report N°37, *Understanding Islamism*, 2 March 2005.

This report sketches a general history of the Islamic movement, analyses how it seized power and has ruled, the split in 2000 and its consequences, and the NCP's current internal divisions and lack of strategic coherence. By providing a snapshot of the ruling party, it seeks to increase awareness of the challenges it and the new, smaller Sudan face. It does not address specifically and comprehensively pending post-referendum issues, the Darfur peace process, the popular consultations and the challenges facing independent South Sudan.² These will be subjects of subsequent reporting.

Since before independence, the Sudanese Islamic Movement (SIM) offered an alternative system for development and governance. Founded in the mid-1940s, it was among the first contemporary Islamic movements that explicitly sought to achieve its objectives by obtaining power rather than engaging in missionary work. It contributed to the international debate among Arab and Islamic movements over ideas influenced by Sayed Qutb and Hassan al-Banna³ and embraced the latter's Islamic Brotherhood paradigm, based on centralised leadership, which it believed could assimilate and accommodate what it described as non-Muslim and non-Arab minority regions such as the South. In 1964, it joined other political forces and spearheaded the Islamic Convention Front, demanding an Islamic constitution after the October Revolution that overthrew President Ibrahim Abbud's military dictatorship. ⁴ That failed, but over time the SIM was transformed and expanded into a front that aimed to take over the government and impose an ethnic Arab-Islamic identity on all Sudanese.

A. CREATING A SUDANESE IDENTITY

Sudanese elites have long disagreed about the country's identity. To some, it should be Arab and Muslim; to others, it should respect and accommodate all the cultures, religions and minorities within its territory.⁵ The Northern, Riverine tribes⁶ have always maintained that the re-

II. THE ISLAMIC MOVEMENT: A FRONT SEEKING AN ISLAMIC STATE

³ Mahaboub Abdel Salam, *Haraka al-Islamiya al-Sudaniya* (*Dairat al-Dow – Khyout al-Zalam*) [The Sudanese Islamic Movement (circle of light – the threads of darkness)] (Cairo, 2010). See also, Alex de Waal and A.H. Abdel Salam, "Islamism, State Power and *Jihad* in Sudan", in Alex de Waal (ed.), *Islamism and Its Enemies in the Horn of Africa* (Addis Ababa, 2004), pp. 71-113. For a more general analysis, see Crisis Group Report, *Understanding Islamism*, op. cit.

⁴ Al-Banna argued the Islamic movement should seek power by all means, including working in a joint venture with outsiders who might not be committed to its Islamic ideas. However, once the immediate objective is achieved, it should take full control and begin to create an Islamic state. Crisis Group Report, *Understanding Islamism*, op. cit., p. 7.

⁵ Ann Mosel Lesch, *The Sudan – Contested National Identities* (Bloomington, 1998).

⁶These are the Arabised tribes that live on the Nile north of Khartoum and past Dongola. Most NCP leaders, including President Bashir, are from this region. During the colonial period, they were the first persons exposed to modern education and dominated the civil service, and they have ruled Sudan since independence. The major tribes of this area are the Jaaliyyia, Shaigiyya and Danagla.

²For recent analysis of the latter, see Crisis Group Africa Report N°172, *Politics and Transition in the New South Sudan*, 4 April 2011.

ligion (Islam) and language (Arabic) of the majority should define the national identity, and this has been stated in most of Sudan's constitutions. When the movement seized power in 1989, it tried to implement a "Civilisation Project", premised on Arabisation and Islamisation, and to force the peoples of the South, Darfur, Nuba Mountains, Blue Nile and the East (Beja) to adopt this common identify. It considered that all Sudanese are part of the *umma* (Islamic community) and made the spread of Islam a principal objective. It pressed for the increase of Islamic missionaries in places under its military control and called for jihad to subjugate what it described as the infidels and non-believers.

However, according to Mahaboub Abdel Salam, a prominent Islamist, ¹⁰ the movement's thinking about identity was neither well debated nor articulated and failed to take into account the South and other minority communities. ¹¹ On the contrary, the ruling elites co-opted non-politicised Muslims to wage a jihad against Southerners and Arab camel herders to do the same against non-Arabs in Darfur,

⁷General Ibrahim Abbud (1958-1964) ordered the use of Arabic for administration and in education throughout Sudan and expelled all foreign Christian missionaries. Robert O. Collins, *A History of Modern Sudan* (Cambridge, 2008), p. 78. Darfur tribes such as the Fur, Dago, Massaliet and Zaghawa are majority Muslim but have distinct cultures from the Riverine and have resisted attempts by the centre to assimilate them. Ann Mosel Lesch, op. cit., pp. 3-24.

⁸ Alex de Waal and A.H. Abdel Salam, op. cit., pp. 89-100.

⁹Their thinking is based on a historic practice of converting people in conquered territories to Islam. The Islamists emphasise the role of Omer Ibn Khatab, the second Caliph, who conquered vast areas and consolidated Muslim power and influence there. Crisis Group interview, Islamist and member of the Popular Congress Party (PCP), Khartoum, September 2010. On the debate and tensions on Sudanese identity, see Dr. Baqir al-Afif Mukhtar, "The Crisis of Identity in Northern Sudan: A Dilemma of a Black People with a White Culture", in C. Fluehr-Lobban and K. Rhodes (eds.), *Race and identity in the Nile Valley: Ancient and Modern Perspectives* (Trenton, 2005); "Address to the UN Human Rights Commission in Geneva by Dr John Garang on March 24, 1999", 27 March 1999; Francis M. Deng, *War of Visions: Conflict of Identities in the Sudan* (Washington DC, 1995).

¹⁰He is close to Hassan al-Turabi, the founder of the SIM and wrote the volume referenced above that describes the first ten years of the Salvation Regime. Many non-Islamists criticise it as an attempt to justify the Islamist rule and whitewash its actions, but it makes public for the first time much accurate information. Although the government restricts its import, it is widely read in Sudan.

¹¹ A series of symposia at Al-Khatim Adlan Center for Enlightenment and Human Development, Khartoum in 2008. thus polarising and militarising these tribes and deepening ethnic divisions. ¹²

B. EXPANSION TO AN ISLAMIC FRONT

From the beginning, political Islam has drawn mainly from educated Islamists. 13 They became politically active during the dictatorship of General Ibrahim Abbud (1958-1964) and gradually developed into a counterweight to the traditional political parties, the Umma Party and Democratic Unionist Party (DUP), as well as the Sudan Communist Party (SCP). The Umma Party and the DUP drew their support from followers of Sufi sects of Sunni origins. The Ansar, followers of the Mahdi, supported the Umma Party in mass.¹⁴ Followers of the Khatmiya religious order supported the DUP. Other constituencies also supported one or the other, including businessmen, traders and modern elites. The nascent Islamist movement saw in members of the two parties a natural reservoir for its religiously driven agendas, but neither the Ansar nor Khatmiya were persuaded to ally with the new religious party.

When Jaafar Nimeri's government (1969-1985)¹⁵ signed the "national reconciliation" agreement in 1977, parties gained a semblance of freedom, and political space widened.¹⁶ After Islamic movement leaders were released from jail, they joined a government of national reconciliation and used alliance with Nimeri's military regime to rebuild

¹²For more, see Crisis Group Africa Report N°76, *Darfur Rising: Sudan's New Crisis*, 25 March 2004; Crisis Group Africa Briefing N°68, *Sudan: Preventing Implosion*, 17 December 2009.

¹³Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 19.

¹⁴ In 1881, Muhammed Ahmad ibn Abdallah experienced several visions in which the Prophet appointed him the Expected Mahdi (guided one). He led a revolt against the Turco-Egyptian regime that then controlled Sudan. His forces, the Ansar, captured Khartoum, in January 1885. The Madhi died soon thereafter, in July. His successor, Khalifa Abdullahi, tried to impose his predecessor's puritanical brand of Islam on the rest of the country but was fiercely resisted by the peripheries. Weakened by years of constant warfare, Khalifa Abdullahi was unable to withstand British military advances from Egypt that imposed the Anglo-Egyptian Condominium, lasting from 1899 to 1936. However, the collapse of the Mahdist state did not end Mahdism; the Mahdi's family continues to play a prominent role in Sudan, principally through the Umma Party, now the National Umma Party.

¹⁵Nimeri seized power in a coup, in 1969, and was subsequently elected president of a one-party government in 1971. He was forced to step down after massive popular protests in 1985. Starting as a leftist, he gradually moved to the right. In 1983, he imposed Sharia, which was one of the reasons the South revolted again. He died in 2009.

¹⁶This was signed with Al-Sadig al-Mahdi, then the leader of a coalition of the National Alliance Front parties. At the time, the 1972 Addis Ababa peace agreement with the Anya Nya, the earlier Southern rebellion, was also still in effect.

their party following more than a decade of military defeats in their attempts to topple him by force.

While in the opposition, the Islamists had sought to expand their movement from an elite-based organisation to include all regions and sectors of society. They worked closely with the traditional parties, gaining valuable experience in the public and private sectors and sent students for graduate study to the U.S. and Europe. More importantly, after 1977 they consciously penetrated and – with tough political tactics and selective violence – gradually took control of most of the major trade and sectoral unions, such as businessmen, labourers, women, youth, doctors and engineers unions, and established secretariats, within the movement, to cater to these constituencies. Many key participants in that struggle are now in the NCP leadership.

1. Infiltration of the security apparatus

The movement believed it needed a military and security wing to protect its gains. To acquire the necessary experience, it infiltrated the army and other state security services. This became easier after Nimeri distanced himself from the communists, following their failed 1971 coup. In the swift backlash, Nimeri decapitated what was then Africa's and the Middle East's largest and best-organised communist party. The crackdown marked a gradual shift from the Eastern bloc toward the West and acceptance of Islamists.¹⁸ Modelling its internal structures and social and political outreach on the SCP, the movement also encouraged many younger members to enter the military academy. In addition, many Islamists who received militia training with the National Front in Libya¹⁹ were incorporated into the army when they returned. As the composition of the armed forces changed, senior officers began to reveal their Islamic beliefs. At a later stage, they were sent to specialised centres for Islamic studies.²⁰

¹⁷ In 1976, Turabi produced a document that laid out the movement's political and missionary strategy. This, together with an earlier document regarding the role of women, moved it from a limited organisation to one seeking to encompass all sectors of society. It attracted university students, labourers, businessmen and people from the military and security services. Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 23.

¹⁸ In 1971, communist members of Nimeri's May Revolution attempted a coup. It failed, and Nimeri executed all the officers who were caught, as well as the senior leaders of the communist party. Later some communists joined the Islamists, including Dr. Amin Hassan Omer, the current chief NCP negotiator at the Darfur peace talks in Doha.

¹⁹During the early stages of opposition to Nimeri's regime, the SIM sent many of its members to join the military opposition formed in Libya to overthrow Nimeri by force.

²⁰Encouraged by the Islamists in his regime, Nimeri established the African Islamic Centre, which adopted the Islamic move-

This training and experience impacted the movement. The leadership organised secret internal security and military intelligence cells to protect it from both external and internal threats. These cells were not known to the wider membership and worked autonomously. They conducted counter-intelligence and compiled files on both their enemies and important members and did not shy from using brutal force and other means to remove threats.

2. Organisation and consolidation during Nimeri's regime

As the movement expanded in the 1980s, it created an administration that was seemingly decentralised but actually supervised and directed by its leadership in Khartoum. Each region, including the South, had a secretariat with a regional secretary general, a Shura (consultative) council and an executive bureau, responsible for organisation at the level of village and neighbourhood (quarter) in towns and cities. It secretly convened Shuras every few months and a general convention every four years. Many regional Shuras were ineffective, because they were not privy to decisions in Khartoum, and the security and intelligence elements, as today, dealt only with the central leadership.

However, the movement's success in establishing a broad organisation, including extensive consultation (through the Shuras), and its expansion and penetration into all sectors of society, have given it wider acceptance than the traditional parties, which still operate along the old lines and are dominated by historical families (al-Mahdi and al-Merghani), and the highly centralised communist party. This enabled the movement to later quickly establish the National Islamic Front (NIF). According to Mahaboub Abdel Salam, it also managed to gain respect among the international Islamic movement.²² It formed a foreign secretariat to enhance cooperation with other Islamic movements, and its diaspora membership (mostly postgraduate students) took leading positions in those of different countries.²³

ment's interpretations, doctrine and discourse. It seeks to extend Islamic education to students from all over Africa, free of charge. Many military officers were sent there for training and indoctrination by the Islamic movement. Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 39.

²¹They formed a special secretariat to deal with Southern affairs under the high executive bureau.

²² Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 42.

²³For example, Dr Tigani Abu-Gideri went to the U.S. for graduate study in the 1970s. He helped establish many organisations and societies related to the international Islamic movement, as well as official Islamic and Arab organisations. He also helped many American Muslims. He returned to Sudan in 1990 and became first secretary of the NIF's foreign secretariat, due to his foreign connections. Ibid, p. 48.

In the early 1980s, facing growing opposition (internally and externally), a likely resumption of war in the South and the increasing strength of their movement in most trade unions, Nimeri decided to bring the Islamists into his government. Hassan al-Turabi, the SIM leader, soon became very influential as the justice minister.²⁴ Benefiting from the renewed civil war in the South and bolstered by donations from abroad, he was able to convince Nimeri to impose Sharia in September 1983 (the "September laws"). 25 This generated considerable opposition, but Nimeri responded by dropping from government many of his party's members who opposed the reforms and replacing them with SIM members.²⁶ He also appointed Turabi his assistant for political and external affairs.²⁷ This gave movement members invaluable government experience, but the increased visibility and power came at a cost. The opposition gathered strength, and foreign powers, concerned about the rise of another Islamist regime, pushed Nimeri to make changes.²⁸

He made his choice, on 9 March 1985, ordering detention of the top leadership of the Islamic movement. However, it was not enough to stifle growing opposition. One month later an intifada (uprising) organised by opposition parties, unions and civil society, under the banner of the National Front forced Nimeri to step down. The military moved in, and Lt. General Sowar al-Dahab, the defence minister, took over and formed a Transitional Military Council (TMC). The junta tasked the trade unions and opposition parties to form a civilian cabinet of union rep-

²⁴ After the 1978 reconciliation, Nimeri formed a committee to review the laws and bring them into conformity with Sharia. He appointed his former enemy, Turabi, to lead it and soon after promoted him to justice minister. The committee introduced changes in the laws but anticipated that Nimeri might not accept all. Nimeri introduced them gradually and formally declared Sharia after five years.

²⁵ The Addis Ababa agreement collapsed when Nimeri unilaterally decided to sub-divide the South into three regions. In May 1983, Southerners resumed their insurgency under the Sudan People's Liberation Movement/Army (SPLM/A).

²⁶ Ali Osman Taha (the current vice president of both the government of national unity and the NCP), coordinator of the People's Council (national parliament), and Ahmed Abdel Raham, internal affairs minister, were among senior SIM figures appointed to important positions.

He also arrested several opposition leaders who opposed Sharia, among them Sadig al-Mahdi.

²⁸One year after the declaration of Sharia, the Islamic movement staged a rally with hundreds of thousands of supporters and sympathisers to celebrate. Already unsettled by events in Iran, where an Islamist regime was established in 1979, the West forced Nimeri to make a choice between retaining their support and his alliance with the Islamic Front.

²⁹Most, though not Taha, were arrested. Nimeri was apparently prepared to execute them. Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 48.

resentatives and technocrats, while the political parties agreed to wait until elections, promised in a year.

Nimeri's last minute quarrel with the Islamists proved fortunate. Turabi, released from prison together with detained union and student leaders, claimed to be equally responsible for the popular revolt. Capitalising on the new political freedoms, the Islamic movement renamed itself the National Islamic Front (NIF) and began extensive preparations for promised elections. Liberal democrats and leftists formed the National Alliance for Salvation and opened direct dialogue with the SPLM to find a solution to incessant civil war.

3. Lost opportunity: The Koka-Dam Declaration

During the first stage of the uprising, when its leaders were released from detention, the Islamic movement officially formed the NIF.³⁰ The political forces that overthrew Nimeri tried unsuccessfully to isolate the Islamists and label them collaborators with his oppressive regime. But the TMC and the civilian cabinet contained a number of Islamists, including General al-Dahab.31 In recognition of the central role of the Sudan Doctors Union in the intifada, the prime minister post went to its head, Dr Al-Guzuli Dafallah, whose Islamist sympathies were not know at the time. The NIF's covert influence in the TMC and cabinet polarised the country, with the Umma Party, DUP and Communists wanting to isolate the Islamists, while the transitional government sympathised with them and the September laws. The SPLM/A rejected the invitation to join the transitional government and continued to wage war against it.32

The new situation did provide another chance for peace. Following multiple trips to Ethiopia, then the political base of the SPLM, by union leaders acting as mediators, the SPLM/A invited the National Alliance to a meeting at Koka-Dam in that country in March 1986 to discuss the core reasons for Sudan's chronic conflict.³³ The large

³⁰ Based on the new freedoms, the SIM held its first public meeting, in central Khartoum and chaired by a Southerner. Several papers were presented, including one that called for a federal system with decentralised governance for all regions. Ibid, p. 56.
³¹ When the NIF took power, Sowar al-Dahab became president of the Islamic Daawa Organisation, a major international missionary body founded by the movement. The SPLM considered the military council an extension of Nimeri's regime. Mahaboub

Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 62. ³² The SPLM considered the military council to be an extension of Nimeri's regime.

³³ Some 50 delegates from political parties, trade unions and associations attended, but – because the September Laws were a major point of contention – not the NIF. The DUP, unable to agree about the laws, also did not participate. The conference was to discuss identity, religion, basic human rights, govern-

assembly of intifada forces, union, opposition and civil society groups and SPLM delegates agreed a secular and democratic state was the fundamental requirement for sustained peace. They called for a new interim government of national unity, including all political forces, the TMC, the SPLM/A and the Sudan Armed Forces, and agreed on a process for an all-party national constitutional conference aimed at establishing a new Sudan. However, the NIF made sure this would not happen and pushed the TMC both to reject the call for a new interim government of national unity and to hold the elections on schedule.

4. The NIF frustrated: The third democratic period, 1986-1989

The TMC delivered on its promise, holding Sudan's third multiparty democratic elections a year after it came to power. The NIF fared badly. It won the university graduates proportional representation vote (15 per cent), but lost badly in the directly elected districts to the traditional parties, especially in Darfur.³⁴ Turabi and Ali al-Haj (his deputy) even lost their district elections in Khartoum and Darfur respectively.³⁵ During the formation of the new government, the Umma and the DUP vehemently opposed including the NIF, which thus remained in opposition. A rising NIF member, Ali Osman Taha, won a seat and became leader of the opposition in parliament. The coalition government continued to curb the NIF's influence, including by investigating the Islamic banking system and cancelling a major conference of the Islamic Daawa (religious mission) Organisation. However, it was unable to rescind the controversial September laws.³⁶

Prime Minister Sadig al-Mahdi's coalition government faced many problems, including civil strife and military losses in the South. Nevertheless, he refused to implement

ance (including regional), development, natural resources, security, cultural diversity, education, mass media and foreign policy. The declaration defined prerequisites for convening the meeting, including that all political forces and the TMC would commit to discuss the root causes of continued conflict, and insisted that the TMC provide the necessary security arrangements. Koka-Dam Declaration, at www.fou.uib.no/fd/1996/f/712001/annex1.htm.

³⁴With the elections imminent, the transitional government adopted the old voting system, which reserved a block of seats for university graduates in the different regions. Given their work in the universities, the Islamists had a greater chance to win those votes. Ultimately, they placed third, with 51 seats; the Umma party won the most seats, 61. The 100 seats allocated to the South were either not contested because of insecurity or filled by nominating members of several small parties.

³⁵ Ali al-Haj now lives in Germany and remains the deputy chairman of the Popular Congress Party (PCP).

³⁶Because al-Mahdi and al-Merghani are both also leaders of Muslim sects, they could not unilaterally revoke the laws.

the Koka-Dam Declaration, arguing that he could not do so, because his major partner, the DUP, was not a signatory. In November 1988, the frustrated DUP met with the SPLM/A in Addis Ababa and signed a bilateral accord calling for freezing rather than abrogating the September laws. The DUP presented the accord to parliament, but the Umma party used its majority to vote it down, on 21 December 1988. The DUP then joined the opposition, leading to the collapse of the first coalition government.³⁷ In three years of democratic rule, the Umma Party formed five governments and on three occasions was forced to bring in the NIF.

In response to turmoil in Khartoum, the SPLA intensified the war, capturing many towns, such as Bor and Torit, and putting the al-Mahdi government under great military, financial and political pressure. With continued political crises in Khartoum and a deteriorating military situation in southern Sudan, now including the Blue Nile and Southern Kordofan, the NIF joined the government and called for a national front to stop the SPLA's successes and avoid a complete loss of the region.³⁸ It proposed forming what is known today as the Popular Defence Forces (PDF) and arming and training allied tribes along the North-South border.³⁹

The NIF's prescriptions did not go down well with the armed forces. On 20 February 1989, the army command issued a 21-point memorandum to Sadig al-Mahdi demanding immediate support for the military and a change in its policies, particularly in the South, that had led to withdrawal of international economic and military aid and intensified regional pressure. The document was critical of Turabi, then foreign minister and deputy prime minister, and deplored the reluctance of the Umma Party and the NIF to reach a peace agreement. The generals gave an ultimatum to respond within seven days to the prime min-

³⁷ Crisis Group interview, senior DUP member of the National Assembly, September 2010.

³⁸ In 1991 the SPLM/A nearly captured Juba, the capital of the South, which would have transformed the political landscape. ³⁹ When the NIF took power, these tribes (known as Baggara, cattle breeders), particularly those in Southern Kordofan, Southern Darfur, Blue Nile and White Nile, received further training and heavier weapons. The PDF today draws from all sectors and regions except the South. This militarisation is a major reason why the Misseriya can block implementation of the Abyei protocol, and the government is unable to persuade them to accept the Permanent Court of Arbitration decisions. They have threatened to fight the Government of South Sudan to defend their perceived rights in Abyei. The NCP is cautious with the Misseriya, because the major oil pipeline crosses their land and about 50 to 60 per cent of the troops in the Sudanese armed forces are from Baggara tribes.

ister, 40 who apparently was also informed of the possibility of a coup. 41

The Umma Party caved in. In April 1989, the prime minister accepted the DUP/SPLM/A peace accord. Unhappy about the possible freezing of the September laws, the NIF withdrew from government. According to a senior NCP figure, Western and regional powers pressured the government to expel the Islamists. ⁴² The prime minister formed a new government, with Sid Ahmed Hussein (DUP) as deputy prime minister and head of a delegation that went to Addis Ababa in May to prepare with the SPLM/A for a national constitutional conference. They agreed the government would endorse the modified peace accord, on 30 June 1989, and set 18 September as the date for the constitutional conference.

5. The decision to take power

After the NIF's exit from government, its central Shura⁴³ reviewed the political situation and the risks facing the movement. It concluded that these were: the possible return of the communist/leftists or a coalition of unions to power; the likelihood the DUP agreement with the SPLM/A would lead to the immediate freezing of Sharia; or an army coup. 44 The Shura concluded that the situation was desperate, and the NIF should seize power. It judged that the party had the governance experience and the military cells to act⁴⁵ and authorised Turabi, as NIF secretary general, to implement the strategy. On 30 June 1989, the day the executive cabinet was to endorse the DUP/SPLM/A accord and the process for the national constitutional conference, the Islamic movement launched its Salvation Revolution under the leadership of Brigadier Omar Hassan al-Bashir. Under the pretext of saving the country, military officers staged the coup in the name of the Sudanese Armed Forces and formed a revolutionary council. 46

To camouflage the NIF role, its leaders were detained along with other political leaders.⁴⁷

ture the military command headquarters, take control of the military units in the capital and regional centres and arrest only limited numbers of top political and military leaders. Security hardliners argued for removing all opposition and military threats once and for all. Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 99. The Salvation Regime was the name given to the new Islamist government. Many still use it for the NCP-dominated government. ⁴⁷ Turabi was detained, together with Ibrahim al-Sanousi. Ali al-Haj remained outside the country in an undisclosed location; Taha and Awad al-Jaz communicated secretly with the coup's military leader; Yasin Omer al-Imam and Abdallah Hassan Ahmed remained in country for consultation and as reserves. A critical point was when Sadig al-Mahdi and Merghani, detained in prison, reached agreement with al-Sanousi on the way forward once NIF civilians replaced the military. Ibid, p. 102.

⁴⁰ "Civil War – The SPLM/A Evolution and Struggle for the New Sudan", 10 January 2007, www.splmtoday.com.

⁴¹Crisis Group interview, a leading Umma party member, Khartoum, September 2010.

⁴²Crisis Group interview, senior NCP member, Gedarif state, September 2010.

⁴³ According to the NIF constitution, the main Shura council is a centralised body whose members must be from Khartoum. The NCP still uses it to pass down decisions and manipulate or reject decisions of the regional Shura councils.

⁴⁴ Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 89.

⁴⁵ Others disagreed, fearing the consequences of overthrowing a democratically-elected government and quit the party.

⁴⁶Turabi selected six others – Ali Osman Taha, Ali al-Haj, Yasin Omer al-Imam (NCP), Awad al-Jaz (now industry minister), Abdallah Hassan Ahmed (NCP) and Ibrahim Mohamed al-Sanousi (now PCP) – and made them swear to uphold the NIF's principles, keep the strategy secret and do only the minimum necessary to achieve the desired political transformation: cap-

III. THE SALVATION REGIME 1989-2000

Security officials dominated the initial actions of the Salvation regime. They adopted two approaches to consolidate their power: control of the economy and brutal force, including torture, to break the will of opponents;⁴⁸ and advanced religious justifications to soften their broader constituencies' disapproval of such measures.⁴⁹ The strategy was for the military to rule for three years before the government would reveal its NIF colours.

A. PARALLEL SYSTEMS OF GOVERNANCE – THE NIF AND THE STATE

Leadership and authority were soon put in the hands of the National Salvation Revolutionary Command Council, under Bashir, who consolidated control of the military, security and intelligence structures by using parallel party organs that quickly took formal control. From its inception, the leadership of the NIF had mastered the skill of running informal organisations parallel to the state's formal institutions. All work of the NIF and the state was guided by the centre, in the person of the deputy secretary general, Ali Osman Taha. Initially this approach was meant only for the period of regime consolidation, but it continues today. The centre managed senior appointments, including of ministers, top army staff and director generals of all government institutions, through a special "High Committee for Appointments and Accountability". 51

Within a few months, it was apparent an Islamic movement had seized power – the first after the Iranian revolution. It embarked on cleansing the civil service, including the judiciary, of elements deemed suspicious, because of their known affiliations or considered unlikely to join the Islamist cause in view of their social conduct as monitored by party members in schools, workplaces and neighbourhoods. Under the pretext of reducing expenditures, hundreds of thousands were fired without compensation. Since by then the Islamists controlled most unions, there was

nowhere to file grievances. Although there are no official figures, a Sudanese scholar believes NIF members now occupy almost all senior positions in government institutions, as well as parastatal organisations and companies.⁵²

The intelligence and security organs are the key institutions of the Islamic regime. Their members took control of all aspects of regime consolidation. They purged the top ranks of the Sudan Armed Forces (SAF) of all those perceived as non-Islamists, changed the fighting doctrine to an Islamic one and created a parallel military structure, the Popular Defence Forces (PDF), to defend their organisation and the regime from all threats, including the army. They put their people in senior positions, transforming the security forces from national bodies to ones concerned more with the safety of the Islamist elites.

The top ranks of the SAF were purged and replaced by more junior officers. Bashir was promoted from brigadier to lieutenant general and chief of the army, ⁵³ which came under the full control of Islamist civilian elites. The changes, including those introduced earlier by the NIF, were resisted by many officers. ⁵⁴ Late in the 1990s, a rift opened between the military leadership and its party masters, when the former rejected civilian control. Led by Turabi, the party leadership demanded the military return to the barracks and hand over power to it, as initially agreed and sworn to by the coup leaders. The military rulers balked, and many civilian cadres supported them in rejecting Turabi's move. The rift was aggravated by factors related to the establishment of a federal governance system and eventually led to the split within the Islamist movement.

The government concentrated on specific military branches, such as the air force, military intelligence and communications, as well as keeping the generals happy with economic incentives, including higher salaries, rather than developing the infantry and other elements.⁵⁵ It also increased and strengthened the militias, under the pretext of jihad, and armed selected tribes. A retired general said, "this significant change made the army an institution geared

⁴⁸This period is known as *Al-tamkeen* (regime consolidation stage).

⁴⁹ Crisis Group interview, retired SAF general and NIF member, Khartoum, July 2010.

⁵⁰He passed orders through secure channels to the head of the revolutionary military council and received daily feedback on consolidation of the coup, including reports on government work, reports and decisions.

⁵¹Twenty years later, after the 2010 elections, President Bashir and his close aides, Nafie Ali Nafie and Ali Osman Taha, appointed NCP members to the government of national unity (GNU) in the same manner. The accountability committee still formally manages appointments to high-level positions but has little authority.

⁵²This prompted a debate around the 2010 elections: how could Yasir Arman, SPLM presidential candidate, be effective if Islamists controlled every institution in the North, including the army and intelligence services? Crisis Group interview, associate professor, University of Khartoum, September 2010.

⁵³He later promoted himself to field marshal.

⁵⁴They opposed adopting an Islamic doctrine of jihad, in order to retain the military's neutral and national identity, and also resisted civilian control. Some senior officers resigned or retired; others fled Sudan and joined the opposition in Asmara and elsewhere.

⁵⁵ Most regular army troops were recruited from marginalised areas.

to defend the Islamist regime and its new state under reconstruction".56

In accordance with Islamisation of all aspects of life, the concept of jihad was extended beyond the traditional notion linking it to defence to include unifying the sectors of society: women, youth, old people, rich and poor, workers and business people. The NIF issued a temporary presidential decree for formation of the PDF, as a key step for indoctrinating the people to protect their revolution from the SPLM/A and the political opposition, which sought a secular country, as well as from regional and other international opponents. 57 Judges were trained, including some who fought in the South. 58 School clothing for girls and boys became military camouflage uniforms as part of the process, and military training was made compulsory for school and university graduates. Students who refused were denied diplomas or job opportunities. Many resisted and tried to escape.⁵⁹

A SAF unit was established to oversee training of Islamists, including those who joined the movement in mass.60 Training prioritised Islamist ideology over military skills. Subsequently such training was extended to all regions, including Kordofan and Darfur, where it focused on the Arabised tribes. The resulting PDF militias were used in the South, Southern Kordofan, Blue Nile and Darfur.

After the CPA was signed in 2005, the government kept up only a minority of the PDF units, principally those attached to the SAF and militias in conflict zones managed by either military intelligence (Darfur) or the National Intelligence and Security Service (NISS) special operations unit (Southern Kordofan near Abyei and the oil fields). Most were neglected, and many protested non-payment of salaries. In Darfur several Arab militias mutinied and joined the rebels.⁶¹ In Southern Kordofan, Misseriya PDF militias used in Darfur and to protect Khartoum protested they were not integrated into the army as promised by their tribal leaders in the NCP.62 According to an Arab tribal chief from Darfur and another from Kordofan, neglect of the PDF over the last two years has caused many youths to distance themselves from the NCP's political agenda. They say that in Darfur and Kordofan, militia leaders and commanders are now more prone to resist co-opted tribal leaders. One asserted: "There is no more reason to fight on behalf of the Islamists; jihad is no more a justification. Our interest lies with our people and neighbours".63

Parallel militarised intelligence services were also created, and over time, what was to become the National Intelligence and Security Service (NISS) developed into one of the most powerful security institutions. During the early years after the coup, the service, then known as "Internal Security" (al-amn al-dakhili), was led by a colleague of Bashir in the revolutionary council, Colonel (later Maj. General) Bakri Hasan Salih. 64 Later, an NIF civilian member of the secret security organ, Mohammed al-Sanousi, took over.65

The intelligence service also functions as a parallel police force. The NISS has highly trained operational combat units well armed with advanced weapons, including at-

⁵⁶Crisis Group interview, retired Islamist general and ex-NCP member, Khartoum, July 2010.

⁵⁷Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit. After the Islamists took power, many expelled political party leaders and dismissed army generals went to Eritrea and established a military opposition under the National Democratic Alliance (NDA). Their objective was to unseat the Islamists by all means, including force. The SPLM/A stationed troops in Eritrea to support their military operations in eastern Sudan and joined in the "Asmara Declaration" that supported self-determination for the South. Some leaders proposed to open another front in Darfur, to supplement those in the South, Southern Kordofan and Blue Nile, and the East.

⁵⁸Some are now members of the Higher Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court.

⁵⁹ Several escaping students were shot dead, in the mid-1990s, when Kamal Hassan Ali, the current state minister in the foreign ministry was responsible for the compulsory training program. Crisis Group interview, Khartoum, September 2010. ⁶⁰ The first centre was in Al-Geteina, south of Khartoum (30km

south of Jebel Awliya).

⁶¹ Three field commanders from pro-government militias claimed to have split from government control and have joined rebel groups. They took cars, arms and ammunition; two of these groups are now located in eastern Jebel Marra and one in western Darfur. Crisis Group interview, field commanders from Border Guards units (ex-Border Intelligence), Nyala, December 2010. ⁶² The Peace and Reconstruction Brigade, which is managed by the NISS special operations unit, threatened a mutiny on 7 December 2010, claiming neglect since 2005 and failure to keep promises to merge it into the regular forces. It also complained of constant redeployments between Al Miram in Southern Kordofan and Khartoum, since March 2008 and that salaries were not regularly paid. "Misseriya militia in Kordofan complains to Bashir", Radio Dabanga, 7 December 2010, www.radiodabaga.

⁶³ Crisis Group interviews, Misseriya and Beni Halba tribal leaders, ex-National Assembly members, Khartoum, September 2010. ⁶⁴Prior to the coup, the intelligence services were under the interior minister. In December 1989 the Sudan Security Bureau (SSB) was entrusted to Salih, who created a new intelligence apparatus, institutionalised by the 1990 National Security Act. Originally known as the Security of the Revolution-Revolutionary Intelligence Agency, it was shortened to "Internal Security". There was also "External Security" and "Sudan Security", mostly focused on military intelligence. Robert O. Collins, op. cit., p. 188. 65 Sanousi's deputy, Nafie Ali Nafie, later became head of intelligence. Both are engineers but received military ranks after the

tack helicopters. ⁶⁶ Some are responsible for protecting the central government, as well as the oil fields in the South and the pipeline. Their troops come mostly from the Riverine tribes. ⁶⁷ The NISS also manages security of ministers and government offices. Many office managers for senior officials have intelligence ties; they give information to the central command and monitor all that happens in high state organs.

During the early years of the Salvation Regime, "Internal Security" brutally suppressed the opposition. Its campaign started with the torture, and subsequent deaths, of some doctors who advocated a general strike to overthrow the new regime and continued with the killing of three civilians who kept hard currency at home instead of in the bank⁶⁸ and the execution of 28 military officers accused of planning a coup.⁶⁹ It set up "ghost houses" where it tortured detainees and buried victims secretly.⁷⁰ All this sent a message to the people and more specifically to the army not to consider any attempts to overthrow the government.⁷¹

B. THE POLITICAL ORGANISATION – THE NATIONAL CONGRESS

After Turabi was released from his calculated "detention", he joined Bashir in the leadership. Their priority was to reconfigure the state and deal with the South. On 31 December 1990, the revolutionary council implemented more comprehensive and stringent Sharia, to be enforced by the Popular Police Force. It also announced the expansion of the PDF, to join the army in fighting the war in the South.

In the early 1990s, as part of their international Islamic agenda, they invited all popular and active Islamic opposition movements to Sudan and sought to form an alternative to the Organisation of the Islamic Conference (OIC): the Popular Arab and Islamic Congress, headquartered in Khartoum. 72 After its first conference, 25-28 April 1991, many Islamists and extremists were invited to stay, were given Sudanese passports and granted concessions to start businesses. The settlers including Sheikh Omar Abdel Rahman, who would later be convicted in the U.S. for his role in the first attempt to bomb the World Trade Center, in 1994, and Osama bin Laden, who brought with him many "Arab Afghans" and employed them in his multiple businesses in the country. 73 In June 1995, security hardliners under NCP leadership direction, plotted to kill Egyptian President Hosni Mubarak in Addis Ababa during an Organisation of African Unity summit. This resulted in UN Security Council Resolution 1044 branding Sudan as a state harbouring and sponsoring terrorism.⁷⁴

However, relations between the military and civilian leaders were not smooth. The revolutionary council refused to be dissolved and hand power to an appointed national transitional council after three years, as originally planned. The transitional council was supposed to prepare for an elected legislative council that would draft a new permanent constitution. In a 1995 compromise, the revolutionary council installed its chair, Bashir, as president and his deputy, Al-Zuber Mohamed Salih, as deputy president. This was soon followed by disputes between the secretary general, Turabi, and his deputy, Ali Osman Taha, and internal competition over senior government positions. The

⁶⁶ Crisis Group interview, SAF colonel retired in June SAF reshuffles, Khartoum, September 2010.

⁶⁷ Security is dominated by the Riverine tribes, which continue to appoint most senior staff from within their own ranks and those of their allies. It is widely believed in Sudan that the top echelons of the NCP come mainly from two tribes, the Jaali and Shaigiyya. President Bashir and Nafie Ali Nafie are from the Jaali, who also dominate the NISS. Salah Gosh, a former NISS director, Vice President Taha and Awad al-Jaz are from the Shaigiyya.

⁶⁸These were so-called "economic cases" – people accused of hoarding foreign currency and executed after quick sentencing, without the least guarantees of a fair trial.

⁶⁹ They were sentenced to death by firing squad in a sham trial and buried in a mass grave. Some of the executed officers were in pre-emptive detention when the coup occurred, and did not take part in the coup.

⁷⁰The system of pre-emptive detention avoided prisons that were still governed by international human rights standards and were unlikely to hand over prisoners without legal process. Many families of killed people during this time do not know where the bodies of their relatives are buried. Crisis Group interview, wife of a murdered military officer, Omdurman, July 2010. Also see, "Sudan: A Continuing Human Rights Crisis", Amnesty International, 14 April 1992; "In the Name of God: Repression Continues in Northern Sudan", Human Rights Watch, 1 November 1994; "Agents of Fear: The National Security Service in Sudan", Amnesty International, July 2010.

⁷¹ It went further when it seized and executed without trial a well-known Islamist leader, Yahia Bolad, once chair of the University of Khartoum Students Union and of the Islamic movement's university secretariat. Bolad, from Darfur, disapproved of the Islamic movement's elitism and that its leadership was mainly from Khartoum. Though a leader in the university union, a position that would have qualified him to be a movement candidate, he went to Darfur to stand in the 1986 elections for the DUP. He later joined the SPLM, which gave Bolad military

supplies to open another front. When he went to Darfur he was caught and later executed – some suggest on orders from the top of the NIF.

⁷²Robert O. Collins, op. cit., p. 195.

⁷³ Ibid, pp. 196-200.

⁷⁴ "Resolution 1044 (1996)", S/RES/1044 (1996), 31 January 1996.

discord affected the establishment of the political organisation the movement had planned.⁷⁵

The formal political organisation is a consultative popular congress (conference) system that extends from the local to the national level (the national congress), an open system of Shura consultation meant to accommodate all sectors and levels of society.⁷⁶ During the initial phase, different sectors of the movement had their own ideas of how to organise the party system. Some argued the system was vulnerable to infiltration by opposition parties, which could dilute Islamist control; others thought it was only a plan by the military and the central elites to control politics and the economy. At the end, the scheme was reduced to an organisation in which power was fixed largely in official positions, running from state governor, to locality commissioner, executive manager of administrative units, to administrator of the large villages; and, at central level, from ministers, army division commanders, the PDF secretary general, presidents of institutions and organisations and directors of banks and government companies, each of whom became responsible for mobilising resources and support for the NIF and serving as conduit for the centre's decisions.77

The Shura became the central elements of a network of close friends and trustees through which popular congresses are managed and manipulated in the interest of the centre, augmented by a more powerful system of patronage. The holders of positions at regional level are the "barons", who uphold Khartoum's interests and are rewarded with lucrative government positions, luxury cars, high salaries and other economic incentives. During elections, the system is used extensively to mobilise the masses to vote.

In 1995, Bashir approved a decree to create a new and ostensibly popularly elected 400-seat National Assembly, but the NIF ensured it would remain firmly in power. In January 1996, 125 members were appointed to the assembly, with an additional 50 seats reserved for NIF members and supporters. The remaining 225 members were chosen in rigged national elections (6-17 March). Bashir was elected president with more than 75 per cent of the vote. Hassan al-Turabi was elected to represent a district and subsequently overwhelmingly voted speaker. Sadig al-Mahdi called the elections a farce, and Mustapha Mansur, the "General Guide" of the Muslim Brotherhood, said it

was not a proper *majilis al-shura* (Shura council), because it was created by and remained dependent on the military.⁷⁸

One of the new body's main tasks was to adopt a draft constitution, which it did in March 1998. The document made Sharia the sole source of legislation and increased the power of the presidency. On 8 May 1998, it was approved in a referendum with 96 per cent of the vote. Firmly ensconced, Bashir restored multiparty politics, banned since the 1989 coup. Turabi, seeking to consolidate his authority, sought to reorganise the NIF into the NCP and take control of the party. This set the state for a major confrontation with Bashir.

C. THE SPLIT

The period of debate and disagreement over consolidating the governance system and ending the war in the South marked a turning point in the movement's history. Serious disputes erupted between the civilian leadership led by Turabi and the military when the Islamists tried to implement the conclusions of the national dialogue conference (October 1989). For some time, Turabi had supported autonomy for the South and argued that the goal of the war was to bring the SPLM to negotiate proposed solutions. The NIF and the SPLM did not reach a peace agreement, but the Islamists were able to sign a deal with several prominent dissident SPLA commanders in 1997. That arrangement began to crumble the next year, however, and international pressure increased as the war intensified.

Turabi eventually convinced the military rulers to implement the conclusions of the national dialogue conference. The president allowed the permanent constitution of 1989 to pass the National Assembly and the referendum that endorsed it to be held. But this was badly received by the military rulers and their civilian allies. Many close Turabi associates suggested it was time to remove Taha, Nafie Ali Nafie, Awad al-Jaz, Salah Gosh and others from all official and non-official positions, because they were the civilians who had worked with the military leadership against the

⁷⁵A divided committee for appointments and accountability was unable to resolve the disputes between Turabi on one side and Bashir and Taha on the other.

⁷⁶Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 142.

⁷⁷ Ibid.

⁷⁸Robert O. Collins, op. cit., p. 223.

⁷⁹ After initial talks between the NIF and the SPLM, facilitated by Ethiopia, in August 1989, the NIF proposed a national dialogue conference, with resolutions to be subjected to a referendum. The SPLM/A did not attend, because it disagreed on the modalities. Under the banner "Peace from Within", the NIF held the conference without the SPLM/A or opposition parties. It concluded that the country should be divided into nine states, in a federal system, with the president and governors to be elected. ⁸⁰ SPLA commanders who broke from their leader, John Garang, in early 1990 and signed the Khartoum Peace Agreement included Riek Machar, Arok Thon Arok, Lam Akol and Kerubino Kuanyin; together with the PDF militias, their forces helped to protect oil exploration in the South.

original NIF plans; ⁸¹ this would bring the country under the control of Turabi, who thought the time had come for a proper federal Shura system. ⁸² They convinced Bashir and others, however, that Turabi's call for reform was a plot to remove them. Knowing it might be difficult to mobilise internal support from the movement's grassroots Islamist constituency, whose respect Turabi commanded, they relied on their international connections to displace him before he could do the same to them. Egypt was their starting point.

Several delegations went to Cairo, including those accused of having planned the attempt on Mubarak. ⁸³ Apologies were made and the relationship restored. ⁸⁴ Egypt facilitated a rapprochement between the NIF and the U.S., resulting in cooperation between the NISS and CIA on international terrorism. ⁸⁵ In December 1999, Bashir took "the Ramadan decisions", stripping Turabi of his posts, dissolving the parliament, suspending the constitution and declaring a state of national emergency. He ruled for a year under the emergency laws, after which he and his associates won presidential and parliamentary elections in December 2000. ⁸⁶ To maintain grassroots support, they kept the rhetoric of an Islamic government, but their neighbours and key Western players knew that the new

regime was no longer ideologically extreme, at least for the time being.⁸⁷

⁸¹ At the time, Nafie headed the national security service (the predecessor of the NISS), Taha was social affairs minister, Salah Gosh commanded the special operations unit of the national security service, and Awad al-Jaz was a senior party member. They were all fired, but quickly regained prominent positions: Taha became foreign minister, Nafie elections committee chair (to prepare for the 2000 elections) and then agricultural minister, and Gosh was reinstated in his old job.

⁸² Crisis Group interview, senior Islamists, Khartoum and Nairobi, January 2011.

⁸³ Turabi and his deputy, Ali al-Haj, publicly accused Ali Osman Taha and Nafie Ali Nafie of having orchestrated the assassination attempt. See www.globaljihad.net/view_page.asp?id= 1488; and Eric Reeves, "Khartoum's central role in the assassination attempt on Egyptian President Hosni Mubarak", 3 October 2001, www.sudanreeves.org. Islamists still claim Taha was the key figure. Crisis Group interview, Nairobi, March 2011.
⁸⁴ Taha, Salah Gosh and Nafie made several trips to Cairo. On the most important, Taha was confronted with details of the plan, including the name of the Egyptian military intelligence officers recruited by the Sudanese. Since then the bilateral relationship has been repaired; Sudan dropped claims against Egypt for its occupation of the Halayeb triangle and returned property confiscated from Egyptians.

⁸⁵ Crisis Group interviews, Khartoum, London, Nairobi, 2009-2011

⁸⁶This was the period when Darfurians who had been thrown out of power joined Turabi to publish the "Black Book", alleging the hegemonic doctrine of the Riverine tribes. Turabi was imprisoned in February 2000 for almost five years, accused of being a threat to national security for signing a memorandum of understanding with the SPLM/A.

⁸⁷ In the run-up to the 2010 elections, Salah Gosh said the NCP had distanced itself from earlier extremism but could easily go back, "if they are pushed". "Sudan's spy chief vows return to Islamic extremism 'if necessary'", *Sudan Tribune*, 21 February 2009.

IV. CORRUPTION OF POWER AND MONEY: THE SECOND DECADE OF THE "ISLAMIST" REGIME

Over the regime's first decade, divisions deepened between the military and the intelligence officers with real power and Turabi and his civilians, who still dreamed of a decentralised, Shura-based state. Cabinet changes became difficult and increased mistrust among power brokers that ultimately led to a split in the movement. Since taking power, the NIF had rapidly become a party mainly interested in power. Opportunistic younger members like Taha, Ghazi al-Atabani and Nafie saw a chance and joined the security elites. Frustrated followers of Turabi set up the Popular Congress Party (PCP) in June 2000. Many from peripheral regions like Darfur joined, including Ali al-Haj (ex-NIF deputy secretary general, now PCP deputy secretary general) and Al-Haj Adam Yusuf, (ex-Southern Darfur governor, who rejoined the NCP after the April 2010 elections). Khalil Ibrahim, an ex-amir (prince) in the PDF, left the NCP to organise the Justice and Equality Movement (JEM) rebellion. The PCP today is a leading opposition party. Given its knowledge of how the NCP operates and ties between the parties' middle and grassroots levels, two-way intelligence infiltration is significant.

Despite its national Islamist aspirations, the NCP central leadership is dominated by individuals from the Riverine tribes, who continue to rule through highly centralised decision-making, coercion and excluding opposition parties. Instead of building a new nation state based on the Arab-Islamic paradigm, it has expanded a corrupt patronage system, supported by firm security control. Decisions are taken in secret, dominated by security hardliners. The Shuras have largely collapsed and function only at the central level. The leaderships' exclusionary policies have deepened political instability. Because of newly exploited oil wealth, the period after the split and before the CPA saw high economic growth and unprecedented wealth accumulation among Islamists, but poverty deepened for ordinary Sudanese. Security Sudanese.

A. CENTRALISATION OF POWER

The formal pinnacle of the NCP organisation is still the National Congress (some 600 members) that elects the party president and the National Shura Council (60 mem-

⁸⁸Crisis Group interview, Khartoum, July 2010.

bers). The latter elects twenty representatives to the executive leadership bureau, who in turn select another ten for a total membership of 30. Magzoub Abu Ali Magzoub heads the leadership bureau, which is essentially the chiefs of the sectors, chairs of the secretariats and governors. Besides internal consultation, a main function is to endorse the president's nomination of three NCP vice presidents: currently Ali Osman Taha, Nafie Ali Nafie and Riak Gai from South Sudan.

The four main sectors – political, economic, organisational affairs and cultural - are chaired respectively by Ahmed Ibrahim al-Tahir, speaker of the National Assembly; Awad al-Jaz, industry minister; Nafie Ali Nafie, assistant to the president; and Ibrahim Mohammed Omer, former NCP secretary general and head of the Shura council. Each sector has a number of secretariats. For example, the political sector includes political, youth, women, mobilisation, communication, organisations, foreign relations and media secretariats, each with branches in every state. The function of a sector is to consider recommendations received from its sub-secretariats and produce a paper for decision by the leadership bureau. Although this system still exists, decision-making is now in the hands of a very few security hardliners, who often disregard the deliberations and recommendations of the political bureau.

With the stakes raised after the 2010 elections and the South's referendum, the leadership has promoted many junior members and committed Islamists. They now hold important ministerial positions, including finance (Ali Mahmud); foreign affairs (Ali Karti); information (Kamal Ebied); youth (Magid Hassan Sowar); state minister, humanitarian affairs (Mutrif Sidig); and state minister, foreign affairs (Kamal Hassan Ali). Some of these figures also command security organs, such as party militias embedded in bodies like the army, the police, the PDF and security and intelligence, or are responsible for youth mobilisation in case of threats to the capital or party.

Abdel Rahim Mohamed Hussein, who remains defence minister, and his colleague, Bakri Hassan Salih, the presidential affairs minister, control the SAF. According to a retired SAF general, though Hussein is not a key decision-maker, he is a close, trusted friend of President Bashir, and able to fully execute military decisions, as in the early phase of the Darfur conflict. 90 Ali Osman Taha, though

⁸⁹Before and during the six years of the CPA, those in power enriched themselves at the expense of the poor. Sudan ranks 154 out of 169 countries with comparable data on the UNDP human development index. "Sudan country profile of human development indicators", International Human Development Indicators, http://hdrstats.undp.org.

⁹⁰When the current defence minister, Abdel Rahim Hussein, was interior minister, he was criticised after a new four-story building at the police hospital collapsed. The National Assembly demanded accountability. The president removed him from the ministry, then promoted him to major general and appointed him defence minister. He is one of the president's closest friends, with whom he apparently studied together in secondary school. Crisis Group interviews, Khartoum, April, September 2010.

vice president of the government of national unity and Islamic movement chair, 91 and Ghazi al-Atabani, who formally holds the Darfur dossier, are not part of the security chain of command and apparently are often frustrated by the secrecy of the security system, the political bureau and the Shura. 92

B. THE SECURITY SERVICES

After the party split, the security organs were further subdivided. The NISS remains the major security and intelligence institution, 93 but there are a plethora of others, including for security of installations/construction projects, economic security and popular security; the police are broken into regular, public order and popular police, the central contingency force and transhumance route police. The Jaali section of the top elite reportedly has a private force (the "Precious Stones"), 94 under Bashir's command. During each working shift, approximately 6,000 personnel are deployed to patrol Khartoum's strategic areas. A further 12,000 are based outside the capital. This special force, together with the operation units and the PDF, is viewed as the Islamists' most loyal fighting element in the event regime survival is seriously threatened. In March 2011, Bashir announced the establishment of yet another select force called, the "Strategic Unit". Nafie and Mandour al-Mahdi, deputy NCP chairman in Khartoum State, described it as the force that would crush any revolt against the regime.95

⁹¹ After the split, no one can truly claim to head the Islamic movement, though the NCP believes it has the majority of members, and some still consider Taha, who replaced Turabi, chairman of the movement. Crisis Group interview, head of National Assembly committee, Khartoum, September 2010.

A retired general contends that the Riverine tribes have deliberately kept security officers from elsewhere out of the higher ranks. Over the past six years, many senior officers from the peripheries have been given early retirement rather than promotion. Reportedly many mid-level and junior officers are frustrated, which in turn is the main reason the government has relied heavily on tribal militias (PDF units) to fight in Darfur. ⁹⁶ Though most SAF commanders are linked to the top elites, the NCP does not trust them. According to an army Brigadier General:

The few army troops in the capital are not in any state of readiness or have weapons to take any effective action to protect the capital, or to take part in any coup against the regime. The PDF is the army of the country, supported by specific forces within the SAF, such as the air force and military intelligence.⁹⁷

The majority of the SAF is deployed along the North-South border, in Darfur and to a lesser extent in the East and to provide security for strategic establishments such as dams. For example, when the JEM insurgents attacked Omdurman in May 2008, the NCP relied on their special forces to stop them; only one army tank was deployed, apart from those guarding the TV building and other strategic places in the capital.⁹⁸

According to a majority of sources, most security agencies are in effect subordinate to and report to Nafie Ali Nafie, though his official functions as adviser to the president involve no responsibility for oversight of any part of the security apparatus. An NCP hardliner, Nafie has enormous power. 99 Apparently, no director of a security structure, including the recently established National Committee for Security Advice, can take a major decision without his approval. 100 He also commands a sophisticated secret network that controls many aspects of consultation and decision-making within the party. 101 Reportedly, all rapporteurs of the various security secretariats are part of this network. They monitor performance and discussions during policy deliberations and report to a secretariat Nafie heads. The NISS director general also apparently reports to him. According to an ex-leadership bureau member, "the latent [secret] security organ of the party is first and last in deci-

⁹² Crisis group interview, member of the National Shura Council, Khartoum, December 2010.

⁹³ "Sudan: Agents of Fear: The National Security Service in Sudan", Amnesty International, 1 July 2010.

⁹⁴Most mobilised members are Jaalis from areas of Hagar Al Teer, Hagar Alassal and Qala Alnahal. *Hagar* in Arabic means stone. Crisis Group interviews, Khartoum, Shendi, Blue Nile, Wad Medani and Kosti, 2010.

⁹⁵The Strategic Unit was formed in March 2011 and is composed of highly trained and committed Islamists selected from other security forces, including the PDF, SAF, police, *dabbabeen* ("tanks", the nickname of particularly fervent units that during the jihad phase of the war in the South were willing to risk martyrdom to destroy SPLM tanks), NCP youth militias, Students Union forces and Popular Police Forces. It is commanded by Mohamed Bakhiet al-Mufti, also the head of the PDF. Crisis Group telephone interview, NCP member of the National Assembly, Khartoum, April 2011. "The NCP vows to crush the opposition and the facebook youth", 23 March, www. sudanile.com.

⁹⁶Crisis Group interview, retired Islamist general and ex-NCP member. Khartoum, July 2010.

⁹⁷Crisis Group interview, Omdurman, December 2010.

⁹⁸ Ibid.

⁹⁹Crisis Group interviews, 2006-2010.

¹⁰⁰ After removal as NISS director general, he was named chairman of a security advisory committee reporting to the president. ¹⁰¹ Crisis group interview, ex-NISS officer, Khartoum, September 2010.

sion-making regarding top strategic issues in the state and the NCP – it is the state". 102

This informal structure played a major role in preparations for the 2010 elections. It identified candidates for governor and the national assembly, as well as manipulated the elections to the National Shura Council and the leadership bureau during the last National Congress. Later, it also heavily influenced the composition of the new cabinet in the government of national unity. In doing so, it sidelined NCP moderates, especially those from Darfur who, as members of the previous leadership bureau, had occasionally opposed policies regarding that region. ¹⁰³

C. FRUSTRATIONS AFTER THE APRIL 2010 ELECTIONS – COLLAPSE OF THE SHURA

The 2010 elections were intended to be a key benchmark in the democratic transition. Though it was not without difficulty, the NCP made sure it would prevail. President Bashir was re-elected, and the party won all Northern Sudan governor posts, except in Blue Nile state, and over 90 per cent of Northern National Assembly seats. Dividing the spoils also did not go smoothly. To fill senior staff positions for newly elected state and federal officials, the NCP initiated a nomination process by Shura councils and smaller allied parties that nominated candidates for the leadership bureau. Nevertheless, governors often made their own choices. 104 For example, those in Southern Darfur, Sinnar, White Nile, Red Sea and Al-Gezira states did not accept the nominations, instead appointing many from their own tribal groups to important jobs. This has aggravated tensions between these governors and leaders from other tribes, who felt marginalised, and undermined the NCP's alliance with smaller allied parties. 105 These grievances were felt the more strongly when the government reduced expenditures because of the uncertainties regarding future oil revenue sharing with the South.

While the issue of government jobs has become a serious problem at state level, it is even more critical at the federal level, where it involves influential figures in the party central leadership. After the elections in April 2010, Bashir formed a committee led by Ali Osman Taha to nominate

new NCP members of cabinet, but later Nafie Ali Nafie changed its list, triggering a major dispute. Taha refused to deal with Nafie, contributing to delay in forming the government. Description of Ultimately, Bashir accepted Nafie's changes and announced the NCP ministers – almost all security oriented – without Taha's approval. The what so far has been an unsuccessful attempt to reconcile the powerful men, Bashir set up a committee led by Salah Gosh. In its meetings, Nafie accused Taha of being responsible for the break-up of Sudan. That countered by accusing Nafie of supporting Southern militias and renegade SPLA commanders, thus making unity even less attractive to the SPLM. To a time, close observers of the NCP thought a new split might result, since Taha commands respect among leaders of what remains of the Islamic movement.

Nafie held the stronger hand, however, because he had rigged the elections for Bashir, won a large majority in the national assembly and installed NCP-allied governors. He was thus able to sideline a number of people, including Taha and Atabani. He tried to do the same with Awad alJaz, who as acting finance minister had refused his and Bashir's order to release money before the new government

Another reason was said to be that the NCP was awaiting a breakthrough in the Darfur peace talks and anticipated it would need to allocate a vice presidency and a few cabinet seats to Darfuris.

¹⁰⁷ For example, he installed Majid Hassan Sowar, who had led the youth militias, including the *dabbabeen*, as youth minister and Ali Kerti, who like Awad al-Jaz (now industry minister), had led NCP militias, as foreign minister.

¹⁰⁸The committee included Nafie, Salah Gosh, Ahmed Ibrahim al-Tahir, Ibrahim Mohammed Omer, Taha, Awad al-Jaz and others.

¹⁰⁹ Taha was the chief NCP negotiator at the Naivasha talks that led to the CPA. The NCP approved the agreement as a party and implemented it as a government, thus Taha can hardly be blamed for the results. Attempts by Nafie and Al-Tayeb Mustafa to do so reveal the disarray in the NCP at the highest levels. According to the Islamist hardliners, the SPLM is implementing a hidden agenda designed to end Arab Islamic control. On 9 January 2008, in an Al Jazeera English TV broadcast, Al-Tayeb Mustafa, President Bashir's uncle, argued that the SPLM wants to Africanise the Sudan and remove it from the Arabic world, an agenda supported by the West. www.youtube.com/watch?v=f9odkmRuLSw&feature=fvw. On 8 December 2010, Nafie Ali Nafie argued in an Al Jazeera Arabic TV interview that the U.S. and Israel are working to separate the South and that secession was just the beginning of a plan to divide Sudan into four small states.

¹¹⁰Crisis Group interview, senior NCP political bureau figure, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹¹¹Many Sudanese political analysts, including Islamists, argue that the Islamic movement has collapsed.

¹¹²For more than two years, Nafie was the key person responsible for managing preparations for the elections. Crisis Group interview, NCP member of the National Shura Council, Khartoum, May 2010.

¹⁰²Crisis group interview, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁰³Crisis Group interview, ex-members of Shura council and political bureau, Khartoum, Blue Nile, September 2010.

¹⁰⁴The government of national unity formed after the CPA was signed included the SPLM, NCP and other Northern political parties. Mostly splinter groups from the National Umma Party and the DUP, they filled 14 per cent of executive and legislative positions at all levels. Over time these small parties allied with the NCP and defended most of its policies.

¹⁰⁵ Crisis Group interviews, Darfur, Sinnar, Blue Nile, Gedarif, Al-Gezira states, December-January 2011.

was formed. Al-Jaz threatened to resign, but the committee formed to deal with Taha persuaded him to stay on as industry minister.

Though Taha, as second vice president of the government of national unity, ¹¹³ oversees governors' work, Nafie, as NCP vice president for organisational affairs, had more direct influence before the elections and was in a position to replace them, sometimes without Taha's consent. Since the elections, the governors have gradually gained some autonomy, costing Nafie a degree of control. ¹¹⁴ This however, appears to have aggravated tribal divisions within the NCP leadership. ¹¹⁵

This rift created a serious problem for Bashir. He and Nafie were criticised by some in the leadership bureau, who complained the party might collapse if Nafie was permitted to act unilaterally. While this matter was apparently resolved in July 2010, the relationship between Taha and Nafie remains bitter. The bad blood goes back to at least the third NCP convention, in 2009, when many members wanted to restructure the party by reinstituting the secretary general position and proposed Taha for it, but security hardliners refused and convinced Bashir to maintain the current structure. 116

The party leadership cannot compromise with its grass-roots members without angering its security supporters. For now, Bashir convinced Nafie to leave Taha and Ghazi al-Atabani alone, but they want full autonomy to deal with their big issues – reform (Taha) and Darfur (Atabani). Atabani, for example, has persuaded Bashir the negotia-

¹¹³Government of South Sudan President Salva Kiir is still first vice president of the government of national unity, but has largely withdrawn from that position.

¹¹⁴Crisis Group interview, ex-federal minister, Khartoum, December 2010.

¹¹⁵ The Nafie-Taha dispute is increasingly seen by NCP insiders through a tribal lens, with Bashir and other Jaali reportedly supporting Nafie, while Gosh, al-Jaz and other Shaigiyya said to be siding with Taha. Crisis Group interview, member of the NCP political bureau, December 2010.
¹¹⁶ Many senior NCP members complained the Shura had be-

Anny senior NCP members complained the Shura had become ineffective and decision-making too centralised. They said Bashir should not be both president of Sudan and chairman of the NCP and tried to reduce the power of Nafie. Bashir and his allies suspected this was a Taha and Shaigiyya plot to weaken Bashir, Nafie and the Jaaliyya. See Crisis Group Briefing, *Sudan: Preventing Implosion*, op. cit., pp. 11-12.

¹¹⁷ A Darfuri NCP member said Atabani criticised Nafie's security approach, which sought to buy off al-Tigani Seisi, head of the Liberation and Justice Movement/Army (LJM/A), with the promise of a vice presidency and then to deal militarily with the Zaghawa, JEM and the Fur of Abdel Wahid. Al-Tigani Seisi denied that the NCP offered him the position. Crisis Group interviews, July 2010, Khartoum; and Eltigani Seisi, March 2011, Doha, Qatar.

tions in Doha are not the final stage of the Darfur peace process and has laid out a new strategy to "domesticate" that endeavour. 118

Particularly since the 2010 elections, decision-making is now in the hands of a few, and the Shura mechanism is failing. 119 After the first day of the National Shura Council, 2 December 2010, Bashir and Nafie apparently proposed that it declare war on the SPLM, saying a new conflict was inevitable, whether or not the South's self-determination referendum was held, because the SPLM was supporting the Darfur insurgency, refusing to compromise over Abyei and proving reluctant to genuinely discuss post-referendum issues. The same day Bashir authorised the governors to expel foreign organisations or persons disrespecting Sudan's sovereignty or disregarding its security and legal institutions. The next day, the Shura reportedly held a serious discussion, Taha and others rejected the proposal, and Bashir had to adjourn the session. The leadership bureau held a similarly inconclusive discussion. 120

According to a National Shura Council member, there have been few deliberations on the papers presented by the political sector in December. Most delegates had to rubber stamp the president's positions. Similarly, the leadership bureau on 3-4 December had to endorse the NCP strategy papers for continued unity and its Darfur strategy paper (formulated in August). Since the elections, he added, it is dangerous for a member to object at these senior meetings, because he would risk isolation or become enmeshed in the Taha-Nafie disputes. ¹²¹

In the days that followed the early December sessions, Nafie pushed Abdel Hamid Musa Kasha, the Southern Darfur governor, to publicly attack Taha, in a renewed attempt to sideline his foe. Taha, who has overall responsibility for disbursing federal money to the states and oversees the Fiscal and Financial Allocation Monitoring Commission, had made an enemy of Kasha when he authorised much less money for his state – the largest in the North after Khartoum – than it should have received, apparently because he believed Kasha did not allocate funds responsibly among the localities. ¹²² Moreover, Taha had

¹¹⁸Bashir has repeatedly declared that Doha will be the last international venue for the Darfur peace process. "No more talks with Darfur rebels after Doha-Sudanese President", *Sudan Tribune*, 6 June 2010.

¹¹⁹ Crisis Group interviews, Khartoum, Darfur, Kordofan, Blue Nile. Gedarif states, 2010.

¹²⁰Crisis Group interviews, ex-member of the National Shura Council, ex-SAF Lt. General, Khartoum, December 2010.

¹²¹Crisis Group telephone interview, Khartoum, December 2010.

¹²²He is accused by senior state officials and legislators of directing most local and central government development funds to his own tribe and urban centres. Crisis Group interview,

nominated someone else for the governorship but had been overruled by Nafie. ¹²³ Kasha mobilised his legislative council and in a press conference threatened violence if Khartoum did not give the state sufficient money. ¹²⁴ Southern Darfur is a centre of pro-NCP tribes and militarised Arabs groups, so the threat was serious for the government.

D. REWARDS AND PATRONAGE

Since independence Sudan has always been ruled by Riverine elites. 125 They dominate other groups and extract economic resources from the periphery with the help of local political barons, 126 who receive patronage from Khartoum that they dispense in turn to their supporters in the states. This system of rule is no different from that of previous regimes. The traditional political parties, for example, long used a patronage-baron system with native administration tribal leaders of the Ansar or Khatemiya religious orders, 127

three Southern Darfur legislative council members, Nyala, December 2010.

¹²³ Kasha is an Arab Darfur leader responsible for Arab militia policies. Attempts to appoint him governor were rejected several times, and he was not the top nominee on the NCP state list in 2010. Nevertheless, Nafie insisted Kasha should be governor, because he was confident he could manipulate the elections successfully. He became governor in the last reshuffle of those posts just before the elections. Taha and Atabani preferred a more sensitive leader who could deal with the critical post-election period. The successful gubernatorial candidates in Darfur – Kasha, Kibir (North Darfur) and Jaafar Abu Hakam (West Darfur) were all suggested by Nafie. Crisis Group interviews, Darfuri NCP members, Darfur, December 2010.

124 On 9 December, the state legislative council suspended its second session to protest lack of central government funding. The fiscal allocation and monitoring commission in Khartoum had reduced the state's budget from SDG 19 million (approximately \$6 million) to SDG 5.5 million (\$1.8 million). It also created a deficit in the state by refusing a report from the state committee of experts on allocation of revenues. State legislators said lack of development and the threat of tribal conflicts and armed movements had produced serious deterioration of infrastructure and citizen services. In a strongly worded statement, the legislature has formed a delegation to meet top leaders in Khartoum and threatened to resign if it received no response from the central government. "S. Darfur Assemblymen demand more funds from Khartoum", http://radiodabanga.org/node/6908.

¹²⁵Crisis Group Briefing, *Sudan: Preventing Implosion*, op. cit.; Crisis Group Report, *Sudan: Justice, Peace, and the ICC*, op. cit.

¹²⁶ Crisis Group interview, SPLM figure, Khartoum, September 2010

¹²⁷ The Ansar sect is aligned with the Umma Party, and draws mainly from among the communities in Gezira and White Nile states, the Baggara (cattle-herding) nomads of Kordofan and Darfur, some of the Riverine Jaaliyyia and Danaqla tribes, the Nuba in Southern Kordofan, the Blue Nile and the Hadandawa

acting on behalf of the party/sect leaders and managing selection of representatives to parliament. Today this system is managed by security structures loyal to the regime. ¹²⁹

1. The economy of the Islamists

To compete with initially better-resourced traditional parties, ¹³⁰ the Islamic movement reached beyond its original revenue sources – contributions from students and clergy - to capitalise in particular on the diaspora. Its situation improved significantly when it was allied to Nimeri's regime, and it was able to attract capital from the Gulf and Saudi Arabia and establish the Faisal Islamic Bank, in which Islamists occupied all positions. The bank received massive deposits from Sudanese and particularly Islamic capitalists, prompting the founding of a second, Bank al-Tadamon, with branches throughout the country. The movement followed this by entering into Islamic insurance and attracting foreign direct investment from the Arab and Islamic world. 131 After it seized power, it set up an economic committee to deal with the country's serious financial deficit and lack of key commodities (particularly fuel).

When NIF cadres replaced the non-NIF military council and the transitional government, Abdel Rahim Hamdi, a prominent Islamist economist, became finance minister. In February 1992, he put in place the strategy to shift to a free market economy. The Islamist capitalists took advantage of the restructuring of the financial and economic management system to buy most of the former state companies under the privatisation program, including rail-

(Beja) tribes in eastern Sudan. The Khatemiya order is aligned with the DUP and has members from all these communities, but mainly in the East.

¹²⁸This is the old system that John Garang and other progressive forces opposed. They believed that the peripheries should be included in decision-making, not subjugated to the central elites through the political barons.

¹²⁹Crisis Group interview, deputy general director of the NISS, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹³⁰Traders and businessmen whose interests were linked to the party leadership traditionally funded these parties.

¹³¹These steps were facilitated by Nimeri's policy of tax exemptions for Islamic banks that marked the start of Islamising the banking system. Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit.

¹³²He is also known for a paper he presented to an NCP convention arguing investment should be focused in the Dongola-Kordofan-Red Sea triangle to create a viable Arab and Muslim state, in anticipation of the South's separation and continued conflict in Southern Kordofan, Blue Nile and Darfur. Crisis Group Africa Report N°145, *Sudan's Southern Kordofan Problem: The Next Darfur?*, 21 October 2008.

roads, transport and telecommunication firms and textile and tannery factories. They also acquired premium land. 133

Money for the NCP comes not only from the state, but also from foreign investment and development assistance. Most Sudanese businesses that are sub-contracted by large international companies involved in major construction projects, such as building the Merowe Dam, roads and bridges, are linked to the Islamists' companies. 134 Reportedly, at least 164 companies, operating in a range of services and industries, are owned or controlled by the top leadership, including security officials (SAF, police and NISS). The president's brothers, Ali and Abdellah Hassan al-Bashir, are said to be major shareholders of High Tech, a business group with shares in 23 companies working in such sectors as petroleum, petro-chemicals, engineering, telecommunications (the Ariba mobile phone company), cement and railways and have business deals with foreign companies, including from South Africa. 135 They are also

¹³³ In 2010, for example, Nafie Ali Nafie and Abdel Haleem al-Mutaafi bought premium building blocks in Khartoum North's industrial area, as well as thousands of acres of fertile land in the dissolved Rahad agricultural scheme that were sold to the Kenena Company. Crisis Group interviews, three building occupants, Khartoum, September 2010; farmers, Fao, Gedarif state, January 2011.

¹³⁴Often these companies are awarded large government contracts without – or with disregard for the results of – bidding, thus stifling competition. For example, an NCP-affiliated company may "win" the contract for a large construction project and then sub-contract to local companies able to implement the project. The latter would receive only a small share of the contract's value. Only the largest and best established private businesses are able to survive in this environment. Many start-ups fail because of unfair competition from party-affiliated companies. President Bashir's brother, Abbas Hassan al-Bashir, is reportedly among the wealthiest Sudanese. He controls much of the cement market and was the main supplier for the Merowe Dam construction. At the time, the president headed the Dams Committee. Engineer Osama Abdalla al-Hassan, chairman of the government's Dams Unit, has since been appointed electricity and dams minister. "Corruption penetrates the house of President Bashir", in Arabic, www.alrakoba.net/news-actionshow-id-7279.htm. Osama Abdalla Mohamed al-Hassan is a key person directing contracts to NCP-affiliated companies. Crisis Group interviews, lecturer, University of Khartoum; and others, Khartoum, 2010.

135 It was also reported in early 2011 that a committee led by Salah Gosh discovered that two business people, Abdel al-Azziz Mohammed Osman and Abdel Bazit Hamza, control much of Sudan's external trade (excluding oil). In 2010, this allegedly earned them \$630 million (\$450 and \$180 million respectively). The committee reported that Ali al-Bashir, another brother of the president, is a business partner. Bashir referred the case to Ali Osman Taha, who ordered the return of \$300 million to the Sudanese treasury and left the rest for the traders, without recommending investigations. "Gosh tells the president about his brothers' corruption", in Arabic, www.hurriyatsudan.com.

believed to be shareholders in the new luxury Salam Rotana Hotel, in Khartoum, and Giad Industries (car assembly and arms manufacturers). ¹³⁶

The current agriculture minister and ex-governor of Khartoum, Abdel Haleem Mutaafi, is reported to have major shares in eight companies; Ali Karti, the foreign minister, reportedly bought the Friendship Palace Hotel, in Khartoum North, for \$85 million;¹³⁷ Widad Yagoub, a prominent female Islamist, owns seven companies involved in petroleum and construction, including the Al-Nahla petrol stations. The Islamic Daawa Organisation controls fifteen companies, 138 including Dan Fodio. 139 The NISS owns several, including the Sariya business complex. Prominent Islamists and allied politicians have common investments and businesses. For example, Mandour al-Mahdi, Abdel Azziz Osman and others jointly own shares in fourteen companies. These businesses reportedly contribute to the party, and some of the money was used to win the 2010 elections. NCP figures and their political allies also exert great influence over many media outlets, including Sudan Vision, Al-Raid, Al-Rayaam, Al-intibaha and Al-Wifaag, as well as satellite TV stations like Al-Shrooq, Tayeba, Saheroon and Kowthar. 140

Clan economic interests can come to the fore within the patronage system and strain elite cohesion. Awad al-Jaz as energy minister enabled members of his Shaigiya tribe to dominate the oil sector. Similarly, the Jaaliyya came to dominate the cement industry and telecommunication sector. NCP members from the periphery rarely participate in this system. According to one from East Sudan:

¹³⁶Saad Osman Medani, "Corruption in the Salvation regime before we forget", in Arabic, www.Sudaneseonline.org, which documents numerous examples during the past twenty years from newspaper reports and the internet.

¹³⁷He reportedly bought it from Gumaa al-Gumaa, a Saudi Arabian businessman who is now imprisoned for corruption in his home country. "Ali Karti buys the Friendship Palace Hotel with \$85 million", in Arabic, www.hurriyatsudan.com.

¹³⁸ A major component of party-affiliated businesses emerged from the expansion of Islamic charities into lucrative business sectors under the guise of raising funds for parent charities. The expansion gave rise to what is known as "charitable companies", which typically enjoy complete exemptions from customs duties, income and business taxes and other financial obligations. This helped many Islamists and sympathisers rapidly rise in business, having learned the necessary skills in charitable companies.

panies. ¹³⁹Dan Fodio was established in 1981 as a construction and trading company and currently comprises 32 companies involved in the oil industry, dam construction and major agriculture schemes. It has recently entered into joint agreements with Chinese companies to mine iron and gold.

¹⁴⁰Osman Medani, "Corruption", op. cit.

Only those of us close to the Riverines can benefit from the top elites' control of the economy. The governors of the states benefit from the money sent to the states, and they have their own system of corruption supported by deliberate lack of auditing and accountability. The corruption and nepotism are beyond your comprehension.¹⁴¹

However, most oil money does not go toward development. Although the CPA has provisions for oil revenue sharing and auditing between North and South, there is no transparency for the portion that goes to the North. According to an ex-chair of a National Assembly committee, military and intelligence elements control this money. A Bank of Sudan official explained that the annual budget mainly applies to the first and second lines of the national budget, notably salaries; expenditures for the military and security forces, including the purchase of arms and other goods, are never revealed, and few know the source of funding. Assembly committee, and few know the source of funding.

Pervasive corruption, the weakness of the Shura and the concentration of decision-making have disappointed many committed Islamists, who have either distanced themselves from the party or been sidelined. It has also led many others to join so as to profit from the patronage system. Their loyalty is limited; if the party loses the ability to provide benefits, they could easily abandon it. Recently, disgruntled Janjaweed (Arab militia) groups in Darfur joined the rebels. This is one reason why wealth sharing is so important for the NCP, which needs oil money to lubricate its patronage system. Disagreements over re-

¹⁴¹Crisis Group interview, Gedarif state, September 2010.

source allocation of many kinds are becoming extremely divisive, with the threat described above of Southern Darfur – a state with an NCP governor and a majority Arab, normally pro-NCP constituency – to use force if deprived by Khartoum of its share of national financial resources symptomatic. These disputes will likely escalate after the South's secession, when government revenues will be even more limited.

Other issues that have come into sharp focus since the elections also raise serious questions about the ability of NCP elites to keep control, if the current system of governance continues. These include access to pasture and water across the North-South border, the need for developmental alternatives, instability in the East due to lack of peace dividends from the 2006 East Sudan Peace Agreement, the problematic popular consultations in Southern Kordofan and the Blue Nile and the unresolved Darfur conflict. The elections and the consultations around them were opportunities for the party to open space for more internal dialogue. By choosing to concentrate instead on rewarding the barons and others instrumental in the divisive policies of the last years, it has further increased grievances among its constituencies and Sudanese in general.

2. Selective rewards

As part of its distribution of senior positions, the NCP rewarded those who had worked hard for the party in the past years, particularly in Darfur. The grand leaders of affiliated Arab tribes received prominent posts. Nafie gave the finance ministry to Ali Mahmoud Abdel Salam. Another key figure, General Adam Hamid, was elected head of the State Council (the senate). Sabdel Hamid Musa Kasha, as noted, is Southern Darfur's new governor. Abdullah Masar was reappointed a presidential adviser. Safi Al Nur was reconfirmed as head of the nomad organisation. Jaafar Abu Al-Hakam, a Fur, was made Western Darfur governor, because of his ties with Chadian rebels and the role he played during the early stages (2003-2004) of the Darfur war in Wadi Salih. Masar Mohamed Bushara Dousa,

who had already installed tribal allies and friends and putting the patronage system under strain.

¹⁴² Most of the large development projects, such as the Merowe Dam, bridges and roads, are financed by foreign investment and loans. Crisis Group interviews, Khartoum, Blue Nile and Southern Kordofan, 2009-2010.

¹⁴³Crisis Group interview, bank CEO, Khartoum, September 2010. For more on oil revenue mismanagement, see "Crude Calculations", Global Witness, January 2011; "Fuelling mistrust", Global Witness, September 2009.

¹⁴⁴Crisis Group interview, Khartoum, July 2010.

¹⁴⁵ Crisis Group interviews, division head, Bank of Sudan, Khartoum, September 2010; ex-Lt. General, SAF, Omdurman, December 2010.

¹⁴⁶Crisis Group interview, a member who worked for an NCP think-tank, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁴⁷Crisis Group interviews, non-Islamist NCP members at state levels, Darfur, Gedarif, Blue Nile, Al-Gezira and Khartoum, September and December 2010.

¹⁴⁸Crisis group interview, retired SAF general from the Baggara, ex-NCP and current PCP member, September 2010.

¹⁴⁹Crisis group interview, Khartoum, January 2011.

With the CPA ending and future sharing of oil revenues that account for 40 per cent of Sudan's GDP uncertain, the NCP in December 2010 instructed all Northern governors to halve expenditures and executive bodies, creating a dilemma for those

¹⁵¹An ex-governor of Southern Darfur, he was the state minister in the finance ministry who allegedly controlled money for the militia operations in Darfur, 2003-2005.

¹⁵² All these Arab leaders in Darfur were signatories of the Arab Gathering open letter to then Prime Minister Sadiq al-Mahdi in 1987 that made the existence of an Arab supremacist ideology and organisation known. During the 2002-2005 counterinsurgency campaign, the NCP mobilised Arab militias (known initially as Janjaweed) to fight non-Arab insurgents and displace non-Arab groups. Crisis Group Africa Report N°134, *Darfur's New Security Reality*, 26 November 2007.

¹⁵³ A Fur member of the NCP said Abu Hakam played a role in identifying some Fur members who participated in Yahia Bo-

a Zaghawa, became justice minister, an attempt to appease the tribe's Kopea section, from which JEM's Khalil Ibrahim also comes. In the East, engineer Ibrahim Mahmood Hamid retained the interior ministry post, while two signatories of the 2006 peace agreement, Amna Salih Dirar and Musa Mohammed Ahmed, chairperson of the Beja Congress, became the state minister at the labour ministry and remained assistant to the president respectively.

The NCP had less success with those who signed the failed 2006 Darfur Peace Agreement (DPA). Abu Al-Gasim Imam, ex-Western Darfur governor, was offered the job of state minister at the youth and sport ministry but declined, joined Minni Minawi in Juba and later went abroad when the government attacked his forces in Western Darfur. Minni Minawi himself, the chair of the Sudan Liberation Movement faction that signed the DPA, resigned as senior assistant to the president (the fourth highest position in government) and chairman of the Transitional Darfur Regional Authority (TDRA) in May 2010. Some of his fighters moved toward the Southern Darfur-Bahr Ghazal border, 154 and in December the government declared his forces hostile and froze TDRA bank accounts. Once the governors of the three Darfur states selected the governor of Western Darfur, Jaafar Abu Hakam, as new TDRA head, the DPA was dead.155

3. The federal governance system

Establishing a decentralised system of governance was the NIF's initial focus in 1991. On 4 February 1992, a constitutional decree provided for establishment of a federal system. Pursuant to the concept put forward by the transitional national council that drafted the permanent constitution, it was to be based on Sharia and democratic, with a proper Shura; it was assumed society would gradually assimilate its Islamist ideology. A presidential decree finalised the system in 1995, dividing government into three levels: locality, state and national. The law, which many constituencies were not given a proper opportunity to de-

lad's rebellion and were executed without trial. He added that though the Fur of West Darfur and Jebel Mara have no faith in him, Nafie installed him as governor in a disputed election. Crisis Group interview, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁵⁴He twice left Khartoum during the past three years to protest lack of DPA implementation. He also refused to disarm his troops.

¹⁵⁵ An NCP member suggested that by removing Minni and killing the DPA, the government may have created space for a deal at the Doha talks with another rebel group. Crisis Group interview, NCP central Shura Council member, Khartoum, September 2010. However, the government will continue to selectively implement DPA provisions that further its own policies, for example its recent decision to hold a referendum on the future administrative status of the region, a requirement of the agreement, despite widespread opposition.

bate, provided for appointment, rather than election, of governors and commissioners of localities. 156

Over time the state governments have become increasingly powerful, at the expense of local government. Governors have sometimes used force (financial and physical) against the NCP organisation in their states. Corruption is prevalent at state levels, as is impunity and absence of auditing, conditions of which the national government is well aware. Federalism has come to mean, in effect, a decentralised system of political corruption rather than a decentralised system of governance. The fraudulent nature of this federal system has both weakened the NCP and its Islamic state and contributed to the rise of insurgencies. 159

Increasingly the primary functions of state governments are security and political mobilisation, rather than service delivery. Khartoum retains 55 per cent of total national revenue and divides the remaining 45 per cent among the states. Of these funds the large majority is allocated to salaries of federal civil servants. National development projects are still largely focused in the centre, rendering the rhetoric of devolution and distribution of resources meaningless. ¹⁶⁰

In addition, the 1995 dispensation that many believe was designed to accommodate the South included the decision to redraw the map, converting the nine regions into 26 states, in preparation for total social change. From the start, however, there was considerable controversy, such as over the degree of independence of the Federal Governance Divan (council) and the relationships between federal and state ministers, as well as increased conflict. The prospect of jobs in a new system created high expectations among the Islamists and their allies, and competition for positions was particularly intense at the level of commissioner of localities. ¹⁶¹ The efforts of tribal leaders to acquire important posts triggered numerous local disputes.

¹⁵⁶Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 205.

¹⁵⁷Crisis Group interview, ex-deputy governor, an eastern state, Khartoum, July 2010.

¹⁵⁸Crisis Group interview, a scholar, faculty of economics, University of Khartoum, May 2010.

¹⁵⁹Mahaboub Abdel Salam, op. cit., p. 27. The following discussion draws heavily upon the analysis in this book.

¹⁶⁰Crisis group telephone interview, Sudan expert, New York, March 2011.

¹⁶¹ The commissioner position is important and sensitive, representing political authority and standing between the state and its governor and the locality and its council. But its occupant lacks the power to sign off on Shura council decisions, which go directly to the appointed governor, who represents the central authority. The commissioner – the lowest baron in the patronage – is caught between the governor and his constituencies, while supposed to mobilise support and resources for the state party.

This and historical grievances over land ownership and use and local governance were major reasons for the outbreak of war in Darfur. Disputes centred on which cities or towns would become state or locality capitals also aggravated relations between tribes, particularly those whose *hakura* (tribal-owned land) was divided by the new maps – a problem still plaguing many parts of Sudan, including the South.

V. NCP SURVIVAL IN THE WAKE OF THE SOUTH'S SECESSION

The NCP recognised that peace with the South could threaten its survival, and it negotiated the CPA with a view to protecting its power rather than addressing the root causes of perennial crises. The resultant preoccupation with self-interest and failure to make unity attractive led Southerners to overwhelmingly choose secession in the January 2011 self-determination referendum. After the South's separation, the NCP continues to deal with the conflicts in the Nuba Mountains, southern Blue Nile and Darfur without the political will to be inclusive or to collectively reform the governance system in the manner necessary for political stability and peace.

A. ANOTHER LOST OPPORTUNITY – THE CPA

The CPA was intended to institute a new reality in Sudan. It was premised on three major principles: fairer distribution of power and wealth between the centre and the peripheries, democratic transformation and the right for southern Sudanese to determine their own future. General elections were scheduled half way through the six-year interim period, so as to widen participation in governance after the two signatory parties – the NCP and the SPLM – had laid down the foundations of the new dispensation. In the period after the elections, the new representative government was to build on those foundations in order to consolidate reconciliation, continue review of constitutional arrangements and establish conditions that would affirm the rights of the people of Southern Kordofan and the Blue Nile states and encourage Southerners to choose continued unity of their own free will.

The NCP and SPLM failed to hold elections as scheduled and manipulated them when they eventually were conducted, two years late, so as to ensure majorities in their regions. ¹⁶² Consequently, they wasted the period that had been intended to consolidate peace and unity, and the democratic transformation agenda was dropped. ¹⁶³

¹⁶²During the first half of the interim period (extended from five to three years), SPLM/A leaders shied from confronting their partners on national issues, except those mattering for the South. Particularly after John Garang's death, they sidelined their northern component to focus on consolidating control in the South. The SPLM failed to play a more active role in national politics, treated the election process from a Southern perspective and did not build the trust with Northern and Southern opposition parties to advance a democratic transition.

opposition parties to advance a democratic transition. ¹⁶³Crisis Group Africa Briefing N°72, *Rigged Elections in Dar*fur and the Consequences of a Probable NCP Victory in Sudan,

Sudan's interim national constitution (INC) needs to be amended by July 2011, with the end of the CPA, and the NCP has already prepared a draft to replace it. According to an informed party member, it is simply the INC with all references to the South removed, which would serve continued NCP rule well. It is draft is adopted, the party will have a clear majority in the National Assembly when the Southern members leave and thus the capability to legislate as it wishes. Opposition parties are agitating for a much more inclusive constitutional review conference that would also address the shortcomings of the current federal system and state reform.

B. CHALLENGES FACING THE NORTH

The successful conclusion of the Southern Sudan Self-Determination Referendum and President Bashir's announcement that Khartoum accepts its result has opened the door for real negotiation on the future relationship between North and South after July 2011. The CPA did not address many important matters, and agreements are needed particularly on citizenship, security arrangements, economic and financial matters and international obligations. ¹⁶⁷ Among the most critical issues are decisions on still contested parts of the North-South border; management of the borders; the disputed area of Abyei; managing oil-related issues; and implementation of the key provisions in the Protocol for Southern Kordofan and the Blue Nile States.

Many common interests remain, because of historic, social, economic and political linkages, most notably in the savannah zone that extends from Ethiopia to the Central African Republic and is divided by the 1 January 1956 border. There are significant questions about the fate of more than one million Southerners in the North, as well as thousands of Northerners in the South; the status of

some 40,000 SPLA military personnel;¹⁶⁹ and Southerners in the security organs of the North, including an estimated 25,000 soldiers and police. Further, there are political links between the SPLM in the South and in the North, as well as strong local SPLM branches in Southern Kordofan and Blue Nile. The African Union High Implementation Panel (AUHIP), lead by the former president of South Africa, Thabo Mbeki, the UN and key governments, such as those of the U.S., Norway and the UK, are trying to facilitate and support the negotiations. In addition to their common issues, North and South each has its own domestic challenges.¹⁷⁰

1. A divided party lacking a coherent vision

The NCP remains a divided party, lacking a coherent vision. Many mid-level members believe it could recover if it could unite the Islamic movement by bridging the differences with Turabi's PCP and starting on reforms. They are calling for unification in discreet grassroots discussions in homes and social gatherings.¹⁷¹ They think reconciliation is possible if they can limit the influence of security hardliners such as Nafie, which would also allow them to offer greater transparency and accountability, as well as resolve the Darfur conflict. 172 The PCP, however, has made it clear that unification cannot take place under current circumstances. 173 Turabi went further and tried to isolate the NCP from regional Islamic movements on a visit to Qatar, using a 17 September 2010 Al Jazeera interview to expose its shortcomings. 174 He has also openly challenged the policies of the security hardliners and called for a public revolt. The NISS detained him again, without charge, on 17 January. Despite an internal party decision to hold him through the end of the CPA, Bashir freed him on 2 May. In a press interview, Turabi said he had not been interrogated, and his party maintains solidarity with

30 March 2010. The SPLM-North is continuing to push this agenda in North Sudan.

¹⁶⁴When the South secedes, the INC can be amended by simply removing any reference to South Sudan. Some NCP members argue that the National Assembly can accept it as a permanent constitution or authorise a constitutional review process to establish a new permanent one. The NCP appears to favour modifying the existing interim constitution and holding a constitutional review process not bound by the end of the interim period.

¹⁶⁵ Crisis Group interview, ex-member of the NCP Shura council, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁶⁶ Southern delegates have opted not to participate in the current session.

¹⁶⁷ "Mekelle MoU between the NCP and the SPLM on postreferendum issues and arrangements", NCP and SPLM, 22 June 2010.

¹⁶⁸The border between North and South Sudan as delimited by the British colonial administration.

¹⁶⁹These are the 9th and 10th SPLA divisions, composed mostly of troops from Southern Kordofan (Nuba Mountains) and the Blue Nile. They are officially citizens of the North and will need to be integrated into existing security forces, maintained as discrete units or formally disarmed, demobilised and reintegrated. ¹⁷⁰See Crisis Group Report, *Politics and Transition in the New South Sudan*, op. cit.

¹⁷¹Crisis Group interviews, NCP and PCP Shura council members, Darfur, Gedarif, Blue Nile and Khartoum, December 2010-February 2011.

¹⁷²The Joint UN-AU Chief Mediator for Darfur peace and the Qataris believe the Darfur problem cannot be resolved unless Khalil Ibrahim, the JEM leader, joins the peace talks.

 ¹⁷³ Crisis Group interview, Hassan al-Turabi, September 2010.
 174 Qatar thinks that bringing Turabi and Bashir together on Darfur might assist the mediation, but an attempt in Doha failed; the day Bashir arrived, Turabi left.

other opposition parties in seeking to overthrow the NCP regime. 175

NCP internal divisions have worsened since December 2010. Though the leadership tries to project party unity and decision-making coherence, it remains broadly split between the security hardliners and more accommodating civilians, most visibly in the conflict between Nafie and Ali Osman Taha that has spilled into public a number of times. Since the elections, the divisions between the two camps around Nafie and Taha also extend to the peripheries, where there is discontent between the barons and the NCP state parties; among constituencies; and between governors and the centre. In most Northern states, there is also friction between supporters of the Khartoum-installed governors and NCP organisations. 176 For example, the governor of Red Sea state, Muhamed Tahit Eila, disappeared to Saudi Arabia for almost a month after Nafie threatened to have him removed because of the speech he gave at a donors conference in Kuwait in November 2010, in which he argued that aid money should bypass Khartoum due to corruption at the centre and go directly to the states.¹⁷⁷

The divisions were aggravated after budget deficits forced the NCP to cut staff in all state governments by up to half. Taha, who headed this exercise, asked governors to submit reduced executive staffing lists in February 2011. According to several NCP members, they have yet to comply, and serious problems could result, because the measure would impact the state-level patronage-baron system that most governors continued after the elections. Moreover, there are implications for the Nafie-Taha dispute, since the former installed the governors and seeks to keep their loyalty, while the latter is now in charge and pressing them on a sensitive step they resist.

Despite their internal divisions, some NCP leaders are now calling for wide reform, a new "Second Republic of Sudan", but still based on the program the party adopted after the elections. This includes five key principles: arguments about cultural diversity are over – Sudan is an Arabic and Islamic nation; it will be governed by Sharia; the NCP is open to including opposition parties in a wider government but will not accept a transitional national government; the government will suppress public demonstrations; and reform of the federal system including dividing states

along ethnic lines.¹⁷⁸ Many options are being considered, including re-establishing the six regions of North Sudan, holding new elections and reforming the current governance structures, with governors to be appointed and elections only for the president and state and federal legislative bodies.¹⁷⁹

Meanwhile, the NCP has formed two committees, one led by former intelligence chief Salah Gosh to discuss the way forward with other parties, and an internal committee led by Taha to develop a plan for reforming the government, including reviewing the federal system, the size of the state governments and development priorities. ¹⁸⁰ President Bashir has made additional promises, including that he will not stand for re-election when his term expires in 2015 and that the party intends to limit the age at which a candidate can stand for a senior position to 60. ¹⁸¹ He also pledged to establish a national independent commission to deal with official corruption.

President Bashir's announced intent to relinquish power in 2015 has created serious concerns within the party, given the Taha-Nafie rift. Many senior members contend that Bashir should indicate soon how and when the party will choose a new leader. According to a senior figure, the top leadership will face a number of contentious issues, including whether the next chairman should be another Riverine, or from a different region, and whether this position can be held jointly with the presidency or should be separate. 182 He also claimed that President Bashir was advised by Islamist military officers as well as disgruntled members to hand power not to Taha or Nafie, but instead to another SAF general who would be acceptable to the wider NCP constituency, the army and the security apparatus and, most importantly, would not turn Bashir over to the International Criminal Court. Either way, Bashir would need to navigate the conflicting loyalties of a number of governmental and party security apparatuses. While Bashir has his own militias and the army behind him, Nafie controls parts of the party security apparatus, and Taha has the respect of several PDF militias and the Islamist movement linked to the NCP.

¹⁷⁵ "Turabi: Dismissal of Gosh probably will not lead to another split", in Arabic, http://arabic-media.com/newspapers/sudan/alsahafa.htm, 3 May 2011.

¹⁷⁶The Rezeigat-Misseriya clashes since June 2010 in southern Darfur, with over 1,000 killed, have been aggravated by the dispute between NCP members who voted for the PCP gubernatorial candidate, and Musa Kasha, the NCP nominee.

¹⁷⁷Crisis Group telephone interview, member of the legislative council of Red Sea State, Khartoum, March 2011.

¹⁷⁸Though not so declared, some of the proposed splits reflect tribal divisions, such as in Darfur and the Red Sea states.

¹⁷⁹Crisis Group telephone interview, member of the Shura council, Khartoum, April 2011.

¹⁸⁰The NCP has limited the functions of Southerners in the Khartoum government and submitted a revised constitution to the National Assembly that eliminates all references to the South. From April, the parliament has had no Southern members.

¹⁸¹The opposition claimed this was intended to embarrass the leaders of four large opposition parties, National Umma Party, DUP, PCP and the Communists, whose leaders are all over 70, and less significant for the NCP, which has younger members to continue the Islamist project.

¹⁸²Crisis Group telephone interviews, Khartoum, April 2011.

According to an Islamist analyst, the NCP leadership is unlikely to succumb to the serious pressures – external and internal – it faces. He argued that many of his one-time security colleagues fear that if the external pressure increases, due to an escalation of conflict in Darfur, Southern Kordofan or Blue Nile, hardliners could launch an internal coup. They would be willing to sacrifice Bashir, he claimed, because the army is not prepared to defend him. Others argued, however, that a replacement would be worse than the current regime, because the hardliners would reinstitute the draconian laws of the 1990s. Is Indeed, in some ways the North appears on the verge of repeating a number of the worst aspects of the Salvation Regime's first decade, with political violence at or near the surface and few promising peaceful options.

2. Manipulating the international community

NCP leaders have a history of making extensive tactical adjustments to retain power and privileges. In the late 1990s, they jettisoned Turabi, halted support for Islamic radicals and assisted Western counter-terrorism efforts against their former allies. They are willing to be similarly flexible today, but they can be expected to seek to dilute to the minimum possible any moves that would constitute genuine reform, otherwise accommodate the grievances of the peripheries or respond to the winds of change blowing from revolutionary events in North Africa.

Sudan and the NCP leadership are still under various sanctions because of past support for international terrorism. President Bashir has been indicted at the International Criminal Court (ICC) for serious crimes in Darfur. Nevertheless, the need to achieve implementation of the CPA has given Bashir and his party leverage that it has used with the international community to hold on to power.¹⁸⁵ With the CPA concluding in July 2011, however, much of this leverage could be lost, at a time when the South's secession may bring the North new problems; there is risk of greater troubles in Darfur, and economic hardships are mounting rapidly for most people. 186 It is an NCP priority, accordingly, to create new leverage. It seeks to persuade key governments, especially Washington, that it remains indispensable for North-South cooperation (with the implicit threat that it could otherwise destabilise the new

¹⁸³Crisis Group interview, former NISS officer, Khartoum,

nation); for a Darfur settlement; and for countering international terrorism. It is in this context that its December decisions to let the referendum proceed and pursue the incentives on promise in the September 2010 U.S. roadmap can probably best be understood. ¹⁸⁷

3. The savannah belt – the new South?

The savannah belt includes the transitional areas of Southern Kordofan, the Blue Nile, Darfur, Abyei and other disputed areas along the border. Its people, whose livelihoods are intertwined, were the most affected during past wars, marginalised by consecutive central governments and highly militarised. With the South's independence imminent, they have serious concerns for their livelihoods and the nature of the border. A hard frontier would devastate the Baggara, who, because of seasonal rainfall need to move their herds freely, and put at risk local cross-border economies. NCP security hardliners believe they must control this zone, particularly the peoples who live north of the border. Their basic strategy is to maintain tribal divisions by capitalising on their militarised culture and divergent interests and co-opting tribal leaders. According to a retired SAF general, the NCP cannot afford to have a united savannah or create a new enemy of the Baggara. 188

However, since the 2010 elections, there is a growing sense among Baggara tribal leaders that it is better to seek local solutions than rely on the political elites of Khartoum or Juba. Though NCP leaders claim to represent them, most Baggara native leaders, and some Nuba leaders as well, see the party as using them to advance its own political agenda. The central government launched two North-South Border States Conferences, also known as Tamazuj ("intermixture") meetings, at which border-state elites and communities discussed concerns. However, according

¹⁸⁷ In September 2010, the U.S. suggested a "roadmap" to President Bashir that could lead to improved bilateral relations, including support for agricultural development, expanded trade and investment, exchange of ambassadors and, eventually, an end to such sanctions as the blocking of Sudanese government assets and travel restrictions on certain officials. The U.S. further indicated that if there was genuine accountability for crimes committed in Darfur, it would be prepared to normalise relations. "Obama renews Sudan sanctions, keeps pressure on vote", Reuters, 1 November 2010; "Remarks by the President in a Ministerial Meeting on Sudan", www.whitehouse.gov, 24 September 2010.

¹⁸⁸He argued that more than 60 per cent of the regular military is from the Baggara tribes of Kordofan and Darfur. After the South secedes, he said, the NCP challenge will be to deal with a demoralised army. Crisis Group interview, September 2010.

¹⁸⁹Crisis Group interview, a prominent ex-governor of a border state, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁹⁰For more, see Crisis Group Africa Briefing N°75, *Sudan: Defining the North-South Border*, 2 September 2010, pp. 14-15.

¹⁸⁴Crisis Group interview, Khartoum, February 2011.

¹⁸⁵Crisis Group interview, Sadig al-Mahdi, December 2010.

¹⁸⁶Real GDP growth dropped to about 5 per cent in 2010, the currency has depreciated, inflation is in the double digits (16.7 per cent in January 2011), and domestic food prices have skyrocketed (19.8 per cent in early 2011). "Sudan after the Referendum: Economic Update and Challenges", World Bank presentation, 10 February 2011.

to a participant, the agenda and approach were limited, and those who took part were conscious that free dialogue would produce recommendations that might undermine NCP power. Shortly after, in July-August 2010, some prominent Baggara tribal leaders agreed to form a mechanism to coordinate responses to the issues related to their livelihoods, including cross-border movement. They believe their dependence on cattle and the major oil pipe lines crossing their lands make peaceful relations with Southern tribes and the Republic of South Sudan paramount for their well-being. 192

Genuine dialogue among the local peoples has always been resisted by the NCP, particularly in Darfur. On many occasions, the party directly or indirectly polarised communities, as in Darfur between Arabs and non-Arabs, among the Misseriya leadership and between the Misseriya and the Rezeigat. According to a prominent Arab from Kordofan, "the NCP wants us to fight on their behalf with our children and wants us to fight each other to be weak. We are stopping this ... but some of our young leaders are coopted by the small money paid for being a PDF soldier and happy to receive weapons and ammunition instead of schools and health clinics. They are destroying our children". 193 A genuine dialogue in the savanna zone would potentially produce common understanding and restore the capacity of local administrations to address their local problems. It also could bring about agreements on the minimum required to preserve peace and stability between North and South and among the border communities.

Social peace among peoples who have interacted for hundreds of years is viewed by NCP hardliners as a threat, however, because it could lead to a political peace that might isolate the party's ruling elites and impose a political agenda developed by the new South in what remains of Sudan. ¹⁹⁴ The potential for this is all the greater because the area includes most of the country's core resources: oil, cattle and agricultural land, as well as much of its population. Such an agenda might be more appealing to many than what is on offer from traditional opposition parties. It would likely gain traction as well among Darfurians and

¹⁹¹ On July 2010 in Aweil, Northern Bahr Ghazal state, the conference deliberated on issues including border demarcation, security, stability and development. It decided to step up development projects in the South under the Unity Support Fund initiative and reaffirmed commitment to maintain security and promote peaceful co-existence between the neighbouring states. The next conference was supposed to be in Abyei in October, but did not materialise. Ibid.

¹⁹²Crisis Group interview, prominent Misseriya leader, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁹³Crisis Group interview, an ex-governor and a leader from Southern Kordofan, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁹⁴Crisis Group interviews, senior SPLM and NCP politicians and two scholars, Khartoum, December-January 2011.

communities that will not benefit much from the popular consultations in Southern Kordofan and the Blue Nile. 195 Likewise it would have prospects to attract many who are not satisfied with the East Sudan Peace Agreement. 196

The transitional areas

With the CPA concluding, its protocol for Southern Kordofan and the Blue Nile must also be wrapped up. 197 The consultation process should have taken place during the second half of the CPA's six-year interim period, after free and fair elections. Blue Nile held the elections, and Malik Agar, the SPLM's deputy chairman in the state and commander of the SPLA's 9th division, became governor. 198 However, he does not have a large natural constituency. He is supported by his Ingessana tribe as well as the Uduk and the Dowala indigenous tribes that are some 15 per cent of the state's population. The other tribes, such as the Al-Aneg, Fung, Arabs and Wataweet, traditionally support the National Umma Party, NCP and DUP. The Falata (Hausa) tribe, which migrated from West Africa in the last century, is linked to the NCP and has a highly mobilised PDF.

According to many in the region, the governor is accepted by some because of his efforts to improve social services and increase development. The public consultation now underway has revealed distinct differences between those influenced by the NCP, who think the CPA protocol has achieved its objectives, and those influenced by the governor, who think the state should be given self-rule. ¹⁹⁹

SPLM supporters in Damazin, the state capital, said the governor knows the NCP will not accept self-rule for the Blue Nile, and he is apparently not interested in it because

¹⁹⁵Crisis Group interview, University of Khartoum professor, Khartoum, September 2010.

¹⁹⁶A military commander from the East front who decided not to join the peace agreement said many easterners are not clear on the status of their region; they think the agreement was between the NCP and Eritrea and has not made a genuine change for the people: compensation has not been paid, and the government shows no sign of reviewing the decentralised system, as promised in it. Crisis Group interview, Gedarif, September 2010. For background, see Crisis Group Africa Report N°102, *Sudan: Saving Peace in the East*, 5 January 2006.

¹⁹⁷The popular consultations are a process negotiated as a separate protocol to the CPA to give the people of the two states opportunity to express grievances and offer recommendations to the central government.

¹⁹⁸The SPLM made military threats as the results were to be announced. Many close observers from the region argue there was a deal, in which the NCP accepted Malik Agar as governor, and he agreed to support the unity of Sudan before the referendum.

¹⁹⁹Crisis Group telephone interview, member of the Popular Consultation Committee, Damazin, February 2011.

he would be unable to defend it without support from the South. The public consultation is thus unlikely to produce substantive change of the sort Southerners have achieved with their referendum. The fighters and many civilian supporters of the SPLM-Blue Nile feel their years of combat have produced little other than a long ceasefire; if Malik Agar does not provide alternatives, their support may dwindle, and he could lose control of Blue Nile SPLA units to a new leadership that may emerge. The best he can probably hope for is to improve the situation by negotiating more development incentives for his state, coupled with regional autonomy; he would find it difficult to sustain a return to war unless South Sudan offered aid and strategic depth. ²⁰⁰

Southern Kordofan lags considerably behind Blue Nile in its public consultation process. The NCP and SPLM agreed to hold elections in May 2011 and to start the popular consultation before July, which will be a daunting task.²⁰¹ Tension is mounting over the elections, especially the contest for governor between Abdel Azziz al-Hilu, the present deputy governor (SPLM), and Ahmed Haroun (NCP, indicted by the ICC). The Nuba are not united, and al-Hilu, does not command the support of all their tribes, especially since some Nuba commanders are imprisoned in the South. Haroun is not from a local tribe, but the NCP wants him re-elected. The Misseriya and Hawazma question why one of their own is not the NCP nominee. Some argue that Nafie wants Haroun because he is an experienced Islamist who needs to be rewarded for services in Darfur and to deal with future risks in the state. 202 The outcome of the popular consultations in the Blue Nile also will overshadow the process in Southern Kordofan.

Lastly, the CPA security arrangements also expire in July. If there is not a widely accepted outcome of the popular consultations and a new security arrangement, there is a high risk that one of the parties could resort to violence. The 9th and 10th divisions of the SPLA, from the Nuba and Blue Nile respectively, number some 40,000 active troops and can call on more. Because of these forces, the NCP maintains high readiness among the PDF, contingency forces based just outside Damazin city and three

SAF divisions. Southern Kordofan is even more volatile, because of the disputed area of Abyei. The SPLA is highly mobilised south of Abyei, and the NCP has deployed four divisions near there. The Misseriya, particularly along the central and western transhumance routes, are likewise mobilised, because they rejected the Court of Arbitration's decisions on Abyei and suspect the NCP could make a deal to give the territory to the South, despite repeated promises that Abyei will remain part of the North.

These situations are thus very fragile. If the popular consultations fail, and there is no security agreement regarding the status of the northern SPLA forces there, conflict could reignite and possibly destabilise the entire savannah zone. The NCP so far has refused to accept a continued presence of the UN mission in Sudan (UNMIS) in the North after the CPA ends. UNMIS and the AUHIP, supported by the U.S., need to immediately facilitate a new security framework for the transitional areas, to include, crucially, international monitoring pending final conclusion of the peace process there; given the high level of mistrust among all the local and principle players in these areas, a third party's help is required.

Darfur peace

The Darfur conflict continues without a credible peace process.²⁰⁴ At present, there are two tracks: political negotiations, led by external actors, between the government and a rebel faction that is a coalition of armed groups, the Liberation and Justice Movement (LJM) led by a former governor of greater Darfur, Eltigani Seisi;²⁰⁵ and a government strategy to "domesticate" the peace process by managing it from within and minimising the role of external mediators.

In Doha, the government's apparent strategy is to settle politically with whoever is at the table and then close the door to further external processes and focus on its domestic peace process. Though JEM recently joined the Doha process, not all major rebel forces are there, which risks a repeat of the failed 2006 DPA, signed by only one of the three major rebel groups. Furthermore, Doha may founder over two main issues: reunification of the three Darfur states under a local vice president; and the nature of the regional authority. The government refuses reunification without a referendum and argues that giving the re-

²⁰⁰Crisis Group interviews, a trader, SPLA officer and senior staff member of an international agency, Damazin, December 2010. Malik Agar said that denying the Blue Nile self rule as one outcome of the popular consultations would mean a return to war. "Agar: refusal of self-rule means return to war", in Arabic, www.sudaneseonline.com, 22 March 2011.

²⁰¹ The SPLM claimed the 2008 census in Southern Kordofan missed large SPLM-dominated areas, particularly in the Nuba Mountains.

²⁰²Crisis Group interview, ex-governor, Khartoum, December 2010.

²⁰³ Crisis Group interview, retired SAF brig. general, Blue Nile, December 2010.

²⁰⁴Crisis Group will analyse the Darfur peace process more fully in a subsequent briefing.

²⁰⁵The Doha process is under the auspices of the AU and Arab League, led by Joint UN-AU Chief Mediator Djbril Bassole and Ahmed al-Mahmoud, state minister in the Qatar foreign ministry. Its mandate is to reach a political settlement with rebel groups before the conclusion of the CPA in July 2011. In March, Bassole announced he was stepping down to become foreign minister of Burkina Faso.

bels a vice presidency would lead to Sudan's implosion – implying it would open the door for similar demands from other regions. It also is not interested in addressing the return of the internally displaced (IDPs) and refugees to their homes, given the complexities of land ownership and removing new occupiers. Further, there is a belief among many rebel leaders that the NCP is sliding into more difficulties as a result of the South's secession, so it would be advantageous to mark time in Doha until they see what happens around July 2011. ²⁰⁷

The NCP's domestication strategy includes an attempt to address developmental needs in Darfur and envisages subjecting any peace agreement eventually reached in Doha to wider discussion within Darfur and possible consequential adjustments. It hopes that such a process might strip rebel groups of legitimacy that do not participate in the peace negotiations in Doha or elsewhere. The African Union High Level Implementation Panel (AUHIP) and UNAMID support Darfur consultations²⁰⁸ – a key element in the strategy – but some external actors, including the UN secretariat, are concerned insecurity would undermine the domestic process.²⁰⁹

The strategy also lacks credibility among the directly affected people, namely IDPs and refugees, as well as rebel groups, opposition parties and many Darfuri elites. Their criticism is mainly centred on their lack of trust in the government. Moreover, the NCP wants to operationalise its strategy, although for several reasons the environment on the ground is not yet conducive to the sort of consultation that it and the AUHIP seek to undertake. It would put resolution of the conflict into the hands of the political barons and governors who are part of the problem, as well as the NCP-dominated members of the legislative councils who came to office through fraudulent elections, co-opted native administrations and partisan civil society; it would sideline the Arabs, who are equally affected, have real concerns and most of whose militias are now beyond government control; it would also sideline armed groups that did not participate in the Doha process, opposition political forces, independent civil society, IDPs and refugees; and it would discount a role for judicial accountability in a final settlement. ²¹⁰

Instead of taking decisions to improve the environment, the government, to the surprise of many, decided in early March 2011 to allow a referendum on the administrative status of Darfur per the provisions of the DPA. In a further controversial move, it submitted a proposal to President Bashir to form two new states in Darfur. Rebel groups oppose these ideas, pointing out that reunification of the region is under negotiation, so Khartoum should not take unilateral decisions, and a proper referendum cannot be held while fighting and impunity continue, and more than a third of the population is displaced.²¹¹ A Darfur tribal leader complained that the NCP is setting the stage for reigniting old tribal wars, such as those between the Maalia and the Rezeigat. "The NCP Riverine [elites] do not care if our divide is deepened", he said. "They are getting the wrong advice from the Arab elites in Khartoum". 212

4. The need for reform

The NCP emasculated the Northern opposition parties over two decades, destroying their financial basis, dividing them and co-opting influential members through its patronage system. Because of this, the parties have not been able to regenerate themselves sufficiently to push

²¹⁰The NISS continues arbitrary detention of local human rights, civil society and political party activists and reporters, such as those of Radio Dabanga, and to impede humanitarian agency access to remote Darfur villages targeted for military operations. "Darfuri voices silenced: 66th day since arrests", www.radiodabanga.org, 3 January 2011.

²¹¹From December 2010 to March 2011, over 35 000 people

²¹¹From December 2010 to March 2011, over 35,000 people fled from areas north and west of Shangil Tobaya and villages east of Jebel Marra and arrived at Zamzam IDP Camp in dire need. Aerial bombardment, ground attacks by the army and progovernment militias targeted areas harbouring rebels groups; there was also daily looting, and many villages were burned. According to Radio Dabanga, more than 60 villages in the areas of Dar es Salaam, Tabit, Shangil Tobaya, Khor Abeche and Tutumar Targo were affected. "Pro-government militias continue to abduct and rape women and young girls fleeing attacks", www.radiodabanga.org. In March, the committee formed on recommendations of the all-political parties conference in Kenana (2009) to study dividing Darfur into more states recommended dividing South Darfur into two states, the new one with Daein as its capital, to accommodate the Rezeigat (majority Arabic population), Maalia (Arab tribe) and Birgit (non-Arab) – the latter two rejected the proposal; and West Darfur into two states, the new one to accommodate the Fur tribe of Zalengi and Jebel Marra, and leave the rest of the state for the Massaliet. It also proposed dividing other states, such as Red Sea and White Nile.

²¹²Crisis Group telephone interview, Khartoum, March 2011. The Arab advisers in Khartoum he meant included such figures as Abdullah Masar, Ali Mahmoud and Adam Hamid.

²⁰⁶ Crisis Group interviews, NCP figures from Darfur and tribal leaders, Fasher, Nyala and Khartoum, December-January 2011. The SLJM rebels also insist on a real regional authority, embedded in the constitution to implement any peace accord.

²⁰⁷Crisis Group interviews, rebel commanders, Doha and elsewhere outside Darfur, December-January 2011.

²⁰⁸Crisis Group interview, diplomat, Khartoum, September 2010.

²⁰⁹Crisis Group interview, Western diplomat, Khartoum, February 2011.

the regime to make changes. Their only real opportunity to challenge the NCP was at the 2010 elections, but they won fewer than 2 per cent of the parliament seats; splinter parties did better by accepting NCP support.

With the CPA ending and the South seceding, the opposition parties see a new opportunity, but they are divided over what to do, between those who think that it is time for regime change through public revolt and those who think such a revolt would fail and so advocate dialogue about a more gradual way forward. A coalition of opposition parties, the National Consensus Parties, called for a wider national government to be established before July, as well as a new constitution and elections within an agreed time. The National Umma Party presented such a program in a memorandum to Bashir and set up a joint committee with the NCP to consider this course, but so far nothing has come of it. Similarly, the DUP and NCP agreed to form committees to discuss inclusive government and resolution of the Darfur problem.

The chance of a successful public revolt is slim at the moment, because the NCP is well organised, with substantial constituencies all over the country; disposes of large amounts of private and public money; and controls the official security bodies, the PDF and private militias. It would probably crush any revolt at its inception. In the wake of revolutionary events in North Africa, President Bashir implied that the party was ready to defeat in the streets whoever wished to replicate the Tunisian example.²¹³

In December 2010 and January 2011, before Tunisia's revolution, hundreds of university students demonstrated in Khartoum against high food prices and for greater freedoms. The government responded with large forces, detaining and abusing more than 100.214 These demonstrations followed earlier action in Gedarif, Gezira state, where young men burned crops to protest food price hikes.²¹⁵ As in other revolts in the Middle East and North Africa, these actions were organised through Facebook, but political parties and their traditional leaders – including those that called for regime change – did not come out in support. When Sadig al-Mahdi gave the NCP a 26 January deadline to respond to his party's memo, many thought it might lead to demonstrations, but he settled for an ambiguous rapprochement with Bashir, as did Merghani, the DUP head. Despite their weaknesses, opposition parties still think they can be the alternative to the NCP, but their acceptance is low in the peripheries, once home to major constituencies. Popular revolt in Khartoum led by traditional parties without help of new forces such as the Darfur rebels and the SPLM-North would be problematic.

Some opposition parties are now negotiating unilaterally with the NCP. A National Umma Party report in March 2011 on its discussions with the NCP (led by Salah Gosh) over three months revealed extensive talks. 216 They reportedly agreed that Sharia would be implemented on a territorial rather than personal basis and that both Sharia and local norms would be the basis for legislation. The National Umma Party also proposed, and apparently obtained NCP acceptance, that a democratically elected panel would ensure laws would adhere to Sharia, without contravening human rights norms ratified by Sudan, including freedom of worship. The party further proposed that citizenship be the basis for rights and duties, people be considered the source of power (to elect the president and their representatives to the legislature body), the legislature be the only entity able to create new laws (ending the practice of presidential decrees with the force of law), and future Darfur peace agreements must be incorporated in the constitution.

Issues that the two parties said they would continue to study and discuss include reforming the civil service, army, police, PDF, security and intelligence, as well as the reunification of Darfur into one region. The NCP rejected dual citizenship for North and South Sudan, arguing this was premature before the South becomes fully independent in July 2011, and refused to reinstitute the old six regions of North Sudan. As demanded by the National Umma party, the ruling party was willing to consider a more inclusive national government, but would not accept the participation of the PCP and the Communist Party. Discussions apparently are being pursued on these and a range of other issues. The government established a National Secretariat for Strategic Dialogue to create (with input from think-tanks) a road map for managing a transparent and strategic dialogue. It was to start its meetings in mid-April, and there is expectation that its spokesperson will soon be appointed.²¹⁷

However, in a further illustration of the deep division within the top echelons of the NCP, Bashir suddenly fired Salah Gosh on 26 April as head of the security advisory committee, which means that he is no longer responsible for the NCP political party negotiations and no longer heads the team negotiating with the SPLM on post-independence issues. A few days before, Nafie had said that Gosh's talks with opposition parties were not sanctioned by the NCP.

²¹³ "Sudan's Split: As South Cheers, the North Protests", *Time*, 31 January 2011.

²¹⁴ "Sudan: Protesters Describe Torture by Security Officers", Human Rights Watch, March 2011.

²¹⁵Local Sudanese newspapers, January 2010.

²¹⁶ "Disagreements around official forces, civil services and system of governance", in Arabic, *Alsahafa*, 23 March 2011, and reprinted by Sudanile, www.sudanile.com.

²¹⁷ "Start of strategic dialogue in mid-April", in Arabic, http://arabic-media.com/newspapers/sudan/alsahafa.htm.

Gosh publicly contradicted Nafie, whose remarks, he said, were personal, and insisted that he had the support of the presidency. But in less than 24 hours, he was fired.²¹⁸ It remains to be seen how this will affect the Taha-Nafie split.²¹⁹

The same day (2 May) on which Turabi was released from detention, Gosh handed his portfolio for talks with opposition parties (mainly the Umma and the DUP) to Bakri Hassan Salih, who said he would continue dialogue with all parties. Also that day, Taha said the NCP would discuss the new constitution with all parties, implicitly including for the first time the communists and Turabi's PCP. A day earlier, twenty prominent Islamists, supported by secondand third-tier NCP figures, submitted an eight-point memorandum to the political secretariat calling on the party leadership to consider reforms to safeguard the country. According to a senior NCP member, Ghandor al-Mahdi, the secretariat chairperson, has endorsed the memo, which can be understood as in effect an endorsement by Nafie. ²²⁰

Despite the talks that have been held to date, two senior opposition leaders assert the NCP has left the parties no option for constructive engagement, given how it has responded to the Umma Party proposals and its public threats to crush any demonstrations. The situation is coming to resemble that of the late 1980s, when the Islamists took power, they add, but this time the opposition leaders might be tempted to join with rebel groups out of desperation.²²¹ But even if the NCP is weakened and falling

²¹⁸ "Sudan's president Al-Bashir sacks his security adviser Salah Gosh", www.sudantribune.com, 27 April 2011.

²¹⁹ According to a senior member of the political bureau of the NCP, Gosh is likely also to be dropped from the party. The action against him, he added, is only the tip of the iceberg with respect to the serious divisions within the top leadership, in particular between the Bashir, Nafie, Mohammed Atta al-Moula (head of the NISS) group and the Taha, Awad al-Jaz, Gosh group. If these divisions are not contained and spill over to other issues, he said, the party could collapse, perhaps leading to a coup. Crisis Group Skype interview, Khartoum, 1 May 2011. Turabi on his first day of freedom (two days after Bashir fired Gosh), however, argued that the Gosh dismissal would not lead to an NCP split. "Turabi: Dismissal of Gosh probably will not lead to another split", op. cit.

²²⁰ The memo, whose chief signer is a well-known heart surgeon, suggests that President Bashir should relinquish power within one year, and in the interim a government of national unity headed by a Darfurian should be formed with a mandate to review the judiciary and conduct elections. Crisis Group telephone interviews, Khartoum, 2 and 3 May 2011.

²²¹Crisis Group interviews, Khartoum, Gedarif, Wad-Medani, September 2010. According to an intelligence officer, the government will not tolerate any revolt and has plans for containment. The show of force, when the state deployed 15,000 police during the Egypt-Algeria 2010 football World Cup quali-

back upon Khartoum, the peripheries would probably be unable to unite, because of the deep cleavages within and among them, for example in Darfur between Zurga (blacks) and Arabs; in Kordofan, between Misseriya and Ngong Dinka, Nuba and Arabs; and in Blue Nile, between the SPLM in the state and others. Grabbing territory would be the immediate objective of many. Because Sudan is full of arms, a weakened Khartoum could result in regional wars. The traditional parties no longer have the acceptance and capacity to prevent such chaos; a complex new civil war could easily result, with dire consequences for the entire region.

5. What the international community can do

The international community needs to see the Sudan problem in its totality. Khartoum's policies have changed little from regime to regime and are still dominated by divide and rule tactics and use of the state apparatus and party security forces to subjugate the citizenry. The status quo is unsustainable, but the international community cannot afford to permit state collapse. Thinking it can get along with an unreformed NCP is not realistic; pressure is required to open space for inclusive engagement. The multiple envoys for Sudan²²² need to agree on a common and coherent policy that reconciles Chinese and Russian notions with those of the Western powers, the AU and the Arab League on how to support the country – not on discrete issues but on the problem as a whole.

The NCP is responsible for peace and stability. In the circumstances, its survival is a practical necessity, but for this to happen, its leaders need to open political space for genuine dialogue and negotiation of a constitutional arrangement that respects the rights of the transitional areas, the savannah belt, Darfur, the East, the far north and the citizenry as a whole, while maintaining good-neighbour relations with South Sudan. The opposition parties' call for a more inclusive constitutional conference suggests a way forward. That conference should be a broader national consultative process that accommodates the popular consultations in the transitional areas and the Darfur people-topeople dialogue – two processes that, if separate, will not lead to a lasting peace.

fier match in Omdurman, was part of a real-time exercise. Crisis Group telephone interview, Khartoum, September 2010. ²²² Haile Menkerios (UNMIS), the Special Representative for the UN Secretary-General; Ibrahim Gambari (UNAMID), the Joint Special Representative; Princeton Lyman, the U.S. Special Envoy to Sudan; Mikhail Margelov, the Russian President's Special Envoy to Sudan; Liu Guijin, the Special Representative of the Chinese Government on the Darfur Issue; Rosalinda Marsden, Special Envoy of the European Union to Sudan; Michael Ryder, the UK's Special Envoy to Sudan; Tom Vraalsen, Norwegian Special Envoy to Sudan; and Lissane Yohannes, IGAD Special Envoy to Sudan.

The cardinal issue of governance must be addressed in a national fashion. To do so, a united international community, but particularly the AU, the Arab League and the UN, should put pressure on the NCP to accept free and unhindered dialogue to establish a national reform program. This should include: creating a conducive environment for an inclusive national dialogue; the immediate release all political detainees; a prompt ceasefire in Darfur and postponement of the referendum on its future status; an impartial review of the supreme and constitutional courts; and agreement on the date and modalities of the constitutional review process. That review process preferably should start before July 2011 and be led by a national committee of representatives of the political parties, Darfur rebel groups and the East Front. The AUHIP could lead such a process if the NCP accepts - but if the NCP refuses, Sudan will be on the path of continued discord.

VI. CONCLUSION

Explaining the current states of affairs, a prominent Baggara tribal leader said, "if the rope holding two water containers on each side of a walking donkey is cut, the two containers will fall. The rider must stop and rearrange the load and the saddle". 223 With the South's secession but months away, the situation in the North requires review as a whole. The NCP intends to continue the status quo – to maintain the political system as is, make isolated peace deals with whoever raises the gun and mobilise Islamist constituencies against their fellow citizens. This is not rearrangement of the load but rather a prescription for more troubles in a long-suffering land.

Khartoum/Nairobi/Brussels, 4 May 2011

²²³Crisis Group interview, September 2010.

APPENDIX A

MAP OF SUDAN WITH 1956 NORTH-SOUTH BORDER



APPENDIX B

GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND PERSONALITIES

Ghazi al-Atabani	A key NCP member, presidential adviser, leader of the NCP caucus in the National Assembly and a member of the party's Leadership Bureau. He led the government delegation that negotiated the Machakos Agreement with the SPLM in 2002 and was appointed presidential adviser after the signing of the CPA in 2005. He was the government's chief negotiator in the 2007 Darfur peace talks and continues to hold the Darfur portfolio.				
Omar al-Bashir	President of the government of national unity (GNU) and head of the NCP. A military officer, he seized power in 1989. After the restoration of civilian rule, he remained president and has continued to centralise power in Khartoum. The International Criminal Court (ICC) indicted Bashir for crimes against humanity, war crimes and genocide in Darfur and has issued two arrest warrants. Bashir has said he will not stand for office after his term ends in 2015 and will also step down as head of the NCP.				
Ali al-Haj	Ex-NIF deputy secretary general and a main figure in the Islamists' coup. After the split 2000, he left Sudan; he is the current deputy secretary general of the PCP.				
Awad al-Jaz	A NCP hardliner who, through his positions, has enabled members of his Shaigiyya tribe to dominate the oil sector. He is the former energy minister and finance minister and headed the NCP's armed militias. After the 2010 elections, he was installed as industry minister.				
Sadig al-Mahdi	Leader of the National Umma Party, he was its presidential candidate in 2010. He is also the <i>imam</i> (spiritual leader) of the Ansar. He was prime minister of Sudan from 1966 to 1967 and again from 1986 to 1989, his second term ending with the Islamists' coup. He is accused by many analysts of killing the 1986 Koka-Dam agreement, which might have ended the civil war much earlier.				
Ahmed Ibrahim al-Tahir	Speaker of the National Assembly in the GNU since 2001, he is also the former presidential adviser for peace affairs. He participated in peace talks with the SPLM leading to the CPA and was a key representative during numerous negotiations between the two parties, most notably for the initiative led by the Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD). After the referendum results were announced, he contended that southern parliamentarians should no longer be allowed to participate in National Assembly sessions.				
Hassan al-Turabi	Founder of the Islamic movement, the National Islamic Front and current leader of the PCP, he has long advocated establishment of an Islamic state. As justice minister, he convinced former president Nimeri to impose Sharia in 1983 and was subsequently appointed assistant for political and external affairs. He spearheaded the planning of the Islamists' coup. One of Bashir's closest advisers, he was NCP secretary general, but in 1999 the relationship broke down, prompting Turabi to form the PCP. Representing a strong opposition to the NCP, he and members of his party have been arrested on numerous occasions, most recently in January 2011. He remains in prison (presently under guard in a hospital) without trial.				
Khalil Ibrahim	A prominent organiser of the PDF. After the split, he left the NCP to establish the JEM. After the Chad-Sudan rapprochement (2009), he was expelled from Chad and went to Libya, where he is currently stranded. Recently he signed a memorandum of understanding for coordination with the SLM-Minni Minawi rebel faction.				
Abu Al-Gasim Imam	mer rebel leader, he signed an agreement with the government and was later appointed ern Darfur governor. After the 2010 elections, Bashir offered him the job of state ministhe youth and sport ministry, but he declined and joined Minni Minawi in Juba, then abroad when the government attacked his forces in Western Darfur. He is said to be ling between Kampala and Juba.				

Salva Kiir	First vice-president in the GNU, president of the Government of South Sudan and chairman of the SPLM.			
Minni Minawi	Chair of the SLM faction (SLM-MM) that signed the DPA. As a reward, he was made a senior assistant to President Bashir and chairman of the Transitional Darfur Regional Authority (TDRA). In May 2010, he resigned his positions claiming that the DPA was dead. Since then the government has attacked his forces.			
Jaafar Abu Hakam	Western Darfur governor since April 2010, he replaced Minawi as TDRA head. A Fur, he allegedly played a role in identifying some Fur who participated in Yahia Bolad's rebellion and were executed without trial. He reportedly has good relations with Chadian rebels.			
Abdel Haleem Mutaafi	Current agriculture minister and ex-governor of Khartoum.			
Nafie Ali Nafie	Co-deputy NCP chairman and a presidential adviser, he is not a party hardliner. He was responsible for preparing the 2010 elections in which Bashir was re-elected, and the NCP won a National Assembly majority and all but one governorship but that were characterised by many as not meeting international standards. He was a rising NIF member during the 1989 coup and headed the NIF security and intelligence institutions throughout the 1990s.			
Jaafar Nimeri	Leader of the military regime and one-party government that ruled Sudan from 1969 to 1985. Starting as a leftist, he gradually moved to the right. In 1983 he imposed Sharia, which was one of the reasons the South revolted again. He died in 2009.			
Amin Hassan Omer	Chief NCP negotiator for the Darfur peace talks in Doha and a key negotiator at the earlier CPA talks in Naivasha. Previously a Sudanese Communist Party cadre, he joined the Islamists before the 1989 coup.			
Ibrahim Mohammed Omer	A senior Islamist and planner of the coup. Former secretary general of the NCP, he is currently head of the National Shura Council.			
Ali Osman Taha	Second vice president of Sudan since 2005, Taha previously was first vice president and foreign minister. He negotiated and signed the CPA in 2005 and was chief NCP negotiator during the U.Ssponsored North-South post-referendum talks in October 2010. He headed government efforts against Darfur rebels from 2003 to 2005 and has been accused of mobilising the Janjaweed militias.			
Al-Haj Adam Yusuf	An Islamist and ex-Southern Darfur governor, he was PCP candidate for the Southern Darfur governorship in the 2010 elections. Reportedly in massive debt, he rejoined the NCP in late 2011.			

APPENDIX C

GLOSSARY OF MAIN PARTIES, ORGANISATIONS AND ACTS

DPA	Darfur Peace Agreement. The failed peace agreement was signed under African Union auspices on 5 May 2006 in Abuja between the Sudanese government and the Minni Arkou Minawi faction of the Sudan Liberation Army (SLA/MM). Two other parties to the negotiations – the SLA faction of Abdel Wahid Mohamed Nur (SLA/AW) and JEM – refused to sign. The DPA is one of the references for the ongoing peace talks in Doha.			
DUP	Democratic Unionist Party, led by Mohamed Osman al-Mirghani. It has long advocated an Islamic state. The DUP was a founding member of the National Democratic Alliance (NDA) and went into opposition following the 1989 military takeover. Al-Mirghani is also the leade of the Khatemia Sufi order.			
СРА	The 2005 Comprehensive Peace Agreement ended the civil war with the South and aimed for democratic transformation of the state. It guaranteed Southern Sudanese a right to self-determination at the end of a six-year interim period; the agreement comes to an end on 9 July 2011.			
GNU Government of national unity, the national governance structure established by It is headed by President Omar al-Bashir, First Vice President Salva Kiir and Se President Ali Osman Taha.				
GoSS	The Government of South Sudan, a semi-autonomous regional government established by the CPA in 2005 and headed by GoSS President Salva Kiir.			
INC	Interim National Constitution, the constitution governing Sudan during the CPA period. It is now under review, since consistent with the results of the January 2011 referendum, all references to South Sudan should be removed. The amended document will remain law of the land until replaced by a new permanent constitution for (North) Sudan.			
JEM	Justice and Equality Movement, a rebel group founded and headed by Khalil Ibrahim. It was initially supported by Chad and then by Libya. JEM refused to sign the DPA in May 2006. It entered into an agreement with Khartoum on 20 February 2010 in N'Djamena on a preliminary framework that includes a temporary ceasefire and is also engaged in the Darfur peace process in Doha.			
(S)LJM	(Sudan) Liberation and Justice Movement, an alliance of ten rebel groups that was formed in February 2010 to take part in the Doha negotiations. Led by a former governor of greater Darfur, Tigani Sessi, and backed by external actors, the LJM was created as a negotiating umbrella for two coalitions: the Libyan-backed Sudan Liberation Revolutionary Forces (the Road Map Group) and the Addis Ababa Group.			
NCP	National Congress Party, the ruling party of the Government of Sudan, headed by President Omar al-Bashir. It is the successor of the National Islamic Front (NIF), which was the successor of the Sudanese Islamic Movement (SIM).			
NDA	An alliance of opposition parties, unions and civil society that as the National Alliance for Salvation organised an intifada (uprising) in April 1985 and forced Nimeri to step down. After the NIF took power, this alliance went to Asmara and formed the National Democratic Alliance (NDA); the SPLM was a member of the NDA. After the CPA, it signed an agreement with the GNU in Cairo, and some members joined the government. It is now largely defunct.			

NIF	National Islamic Front (former Islamic Charter Front). Based on the Muslim Brotherhood, it is the culmination of the Sudanese Islamic Movement's political work. Hassan al-Turabi was its leader. The NIF was committed to an Islamic state and rejected the 1986 Koka Dam agreements, which would have revoked Sharia. The NIF overthrew the democratically-elected government in 1989.				
NISS	National Intelligence and Security Services, the major security and intelligence institution, headed by Mohammed Atta al-Moula. Formerly known as "Internal Security" (al-amn a-dakhili), it became a powerful security institution after the split in 2000. Former director generals include Salah Gosh, Nafie Ali Nafie and Ibrahim al-Sanousi. After the split, the NISS cooperated with the American CIA on exchange of information on terrorist groups and individuals in the region.				
PCP	Popular Congress Party, founded by Hassan al-Turabi in 2000. Espousing democratic, pluralistic and Islamic values, it remains a leading opponent of the NCP, which considers it enemy number one.				
PDF	Popular Defence Forces, established in January 1991 by the Islamists' revolutionary council to help fight the war in the South. The PDF was to have been dismantled under the CPA, but has so far only been reduced in size. It plays a major military role in Darfur and in protecting the NCP regime and is highly mobilised along the North-South border.				
SAF	Sudan Armed Forces – the national army. The majority of senior staff are committed Islamists. Very few are from the periphery (Kordofan, Darfur, Nuba, Blue Nile and the East). The current defence minister, Abdel Rahim Hussein, is the president's personal friend.				
SCP Sudan Communist Party. Formerly the largest and best organised communist Middle East. After the failed 1971 coup, Nimeri killed most of its leaders. Le Mohamed Ibrahim Nugud, it remains an important opposition party.					
National Shura Council	In Arabic the <i>majilis al-shura</i> , it is the main Shura (consultative) council. Based in Khartoum, it is headed by Ibrahim Omar. Regional Shura councils also convene in each state, although these have become largely ineffective and are managed by Khartoum.				
SIM	Sudanese Islamic Movement, led by Secretary General Ali Osman Taha. Founded in the 1940s, it spearheaded the Islamic Convention Front in 1964, demanding an Islamic constitution. Although this failed, the SIM continued as a front that sought to take over the government and impose an ethnic Arab-Islamic identity. The NIF and NCP are its successors. Today, many Sudanese argue that there is no such movement; the NCP does not represent an Islamic movement; and it is now sub-divided among many Islamic political parties.				
SLM/A	Sudan Liberation Movement/Army, a Sudanese rebel group that splintered into a number of factions – the main ones are SLM/MM led by Minni Minawi and SLM/AW led by Abdul Wahid al-Nur – because of rivalries and disagreements over the DPA.				
SPLM	Sudan People's Liberation Movement, the Juba-based Southern rebel movement turned political party that signed the CPA in 2005; it is now the majority ruling party in South Sudan and is headed by Salva Kiir. The SPLM-North branch will become an autonomous party after the South's independence.				
TDRA	Transitional Darfur Regional Authority, a DPA-established interim authority for Darfur created in April 2007. After Minawi resigned, it has been headed by Jaafar Abu Hakam, governor of Western Darfur.				
TMC	Transitional Military Council. It was formed by Lt. General Sowar al-Dahab in April 1985, after the intifada, and relinquished power after democratic elections in 1986. Al-Dahab is currently the chairman of the Islamic Daawa (religious mission) organisation.				

National Umma Party (NUP)	A large traditional party in Khartoum, led by Sadiq al-Mahdi. It has historically drawn its support from the Ansar sect and had large constituencies in Darfur and Kordofan. Al-Mahdi is also the religious leader of the Ansar. During the NCP regime, many leaders split from the main Umma party (NUP) and formed their own versions of the name Umma; the majority joined the NCP-led GNU. Today there are more than three different Umma parties. Before the referendum in January 2011, the second largest, led by the cousin of Sadig, Mubarak al-Fadil, rejoined the mother party.		
UNMIS	The United Nations Mission in Sudan, a peacekeeping operation authorised by the Security Council on 24 March 2005 (Res. 1590). Its primary mandate is to support and monitor implementation of the CPA. It is likely to be replaced by a new UN presence in 2011.		

APPENDIX D

ABOUT THE INTERNATIONAL CRISIS GROUP

The International Crisis Group (Crisis Group) is an independent, non-profit, non-governmental organisation, with some 130 staff members on five continents, working through field-based analysis and high-level advocacy to prevent and resolve deadly conflict.

Crisis Group's approach is grounded in field research. Teams of political analysts are located within or close by countries at risk of outbreak, escalation or recurrence of violent conflict. Based on information and assessments from the field, it produces analytical reports containing practical recommendations targeted at key international decision-takers. Crisis Group also publishes *CrisisWatch*, a twelve-page monthly bulletin, providing a succinct regular update on the state of play in all the most significant situations of conflict or potential conflict around the world.

Crisis Group's reports and briefing papers are distributed widely by email and made available simultaneously on the website, www.crisisgroup.org. Crisis Group works closely with governments and those who influence them, including the media, to highlight its crisis analyses and to generate support for its policy prescriptions.

The Crisis Group Board – which includes prominent figures from the fields of politics, diplomacy, business and the media – is directly involved in helping to bring the reports and recommendations to the attention of senior policy-makers around the world. Crisis Group is co-chaired by the former European Commissioner for External Relations Christopher Patten and former U.S. Ambassador Thomas Pickering. Its President and Chief Executive since July 2009 has been Louise Arbour, former UN High Commissioner for Human Rights and Chief Prosecutor for the International Criminal Tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and for Rwanda.

Crisis Group's international headquarters are in Brussels, with major advocacy offices in Washington DC (where it is based as a legal entity) and New York, a smaller one in London and liaison presences in Moscow and Beijing. The organisation currently operates nine regional offices (in Bishkek, Bogotá, Dakar, Islamabad, Istanbul, Jakarta, Nairobi, Pristina and Tbilisi) and has local field representation in fourteen additional locations (Baku, Bangkok, Beirut, Bujumbura, Damascus, Dili, Jerusalem, Kabul, Kathmandu, Kinshasa, Port-au-Prince, Pretoria, Sarajevo and Seoul). Crisis Group currently covers some 60 areas of actual or potential conflict across four continents. In Africa, this includes Burundi, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Kenya, Liberia, Madagascar, Nigeria, Rwanda, Sierra Leone, Somalia, Sudan, Uganda and Zimbabwe; in Asia, Afghanistan, Bangladesh,

Burma/Myanmar, Indonesia, Kashmir, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Nepal, North Korea, Pakistan, Philippines, Sri Lanka, Taiwan Strait, Tajikistan, Thailand, Timor-Leste, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan; in Europe, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cyprus, Georgia, Kosovo, Macedonia, Russia (North Caucasus), Serbia and Turkey; in the Middle East and North Africa, Algeria, Egypt, Gulf States, Iran, Iraq, Israel-Palestine, Lebanon, Morocco, Saudi Arabia, Syria and Yemen; and in Latin America and the Caribbean, Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, Haiti and Venezuela.

Crisis Group receives financial support from a wide range of governments, institutional foundations, and private sources. The following governmental departments and agencies have provided funding in recent years: Australian Agency for International Development, Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Austrian Development Agency, Belgian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Canadian International Development Agency, Canadian International Development and Research Centre, Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada, Czech Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Royal Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, European Commission, Finnish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, French Ministry of Foreign Affairs, German Federal Foreign Office, Irish Aid, Japan International Cooperation Agency, Principality of Liechtenstein, Luxembourg Ministry of Foreign Affairs, New Zealand Agency for International Development, Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Slovenian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Swedish International Development Agency, Swedish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs, Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, United Arab Emirates Ministry of Foreign Affairs, United Kingdom Department for International Development, United Kingdom Economic and Social Research Council, U.S. Agency for International Development.

The following institutional and private foundations have provided funding in recent years: Carnegie Corporation of New York, The Charitable Foundation, Clifford Chance Foundation, Connect U.S. Fund, The Elders Foundation, Henry Luce Foundation, William & Flora Hewlett Foundation, Humanity United, Hunt Alternatives Fund, Jewish World Watch, Korea Foundation, John D. & Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, Open Society Institute, Victor Pinchuk Foundation, Ploughshares Fund, Radcliffe Foundation, Sigrid Rausing Trust, Rockefeller Brothers Fund and VIVA Trust.

May 2011

APPENDIX E

CRISIS GROUP REPORTS AND BRIEFINGS ON AFRICA SINCE 2008

Central Africa

- Congo: Four Priorities for Sustainable Peace in Ituri, Africa Report N°140, 13 May 2008 (also available in French).
- Burundi: Restarting Political Dialogue, Africa Briefing N°53, 19 August 2008 (also available in French).
- Chad: A New Conflict Resolution Framework, Africa Report N°144, 24 September 2008 (also available in French).
- Central African Republic: Untangling the Political Dialogue, Africa Briefing N°55, 9 December 2008 (also available in French).
- Northern Uganda: The Road to Peace, with or without Kony, Africa Report N°146, 10 December 2008.
- Chad: Powder Keg in the East, Africa Report N°149, 15 April 2009 (also available in French).
- Congo: Five Priorities for a Peacebuilding Strategy, Africa Report N°150, 11 May 2009 (also available in French).
- Congo: A Comprehensive Strategy to Disarm the FDLR, Africa Report N°151, 9 July 2009 (also available in French).
- Burundi: réussir l'intégration des FNL, Africa Briefing N°63, 30 July 2009.
- Chad: Escaping from the Oil Trap, Africa Briefing N°65, 26 August 2009 (also available in French).
- CAR: Keeping the Dialogue Alive, Africa Briefing N°69, 12 January 2010 (also available in French).
- Burundi: Ensuring Credible Elections, Africa Report N°155, 12 February 2010 (also available in French).
- Libye/Tchad: au-delà d'une politique d'influence, Africa Briefing N°71, 23 March 2010 (also available in Arabic).
- Congo: A Stalled Democratic Agenda, Africa Briefing N°73, 8 April 2010 (also available in French).
- Chad: Beyond Superficial Stability, Africa Report N°162, 17 August 2010 (only available in French).
- Congo: No Stability in Kivu Despite a Rapprochement with Rwanda, Africa Report N°165, 16 November 2010 (also available in French).
- Dangerous Little Stones: Diamonds in the Central African Republic, Africa Report N°167, 16 December 2010 (also available in French).

- Burundi : du boycott électoral à l'impasse politique, Africa Report N°169, 7 February 2011 (only available in French).
- Le Nord-ouest du Tchad: la prochaine zone à haut risque?, Africa Briefing N°78, 17 February 2011 (only available in French).

Horn Of Africa

- *Kenya in Crisis*, Africa Report N°137, 21 February 2008.
- Sudan's Comprehensive Peace Agreement: Beyond the Crisis, Africa Briefing N°50, 13 March 2008 (also available in Arabic).
- Beyond the Fragile Peace between Ethiopia and Eritrea: Averting New War, Africa Report N°141, 17 June 2008.
- Sudan's Southern Kordofan Problem: The Next Darfur?, Africa Report N°145, 21 October 2008 (also available in Arabic).
- Somalia: To Move Beyond the Failed State, Africa Report N°147, 23 December 2008
- Sudan: Justice, Peace and the ICC, Africa Report N°152, 17 July 2009.
- Somalia: The Trouble with Puntland, Africa Briefing N°64, 12 August 2009.
- Ethiopia: Ethnic Federalism and Its Discontents, Africa Report N°153, 4 September 2009.
- Somaliland: A Way out of the Electoral Crisis, Africa Briefing N°67, 7 December 2009.
- Sudan: Preventing Implosion, Africa Briefing N°68, 17 December 2009.
- Jonglei's Tribal Conflicts: Countering Insecurity in South Sudan, Africa Report N°154, 23 December 2009.
- Rigged Elections in Darfur and the Consequences of a Probable NCP Victory in Sudan, Africa Briefing N°72, 30 March 2010.
- LRA: A Regional Strategy Beyond Killing Kony, Africa Report N°157, 28 April 2010 (also available in French).
- Sudan: Regional Perspectives on the Prospect of Southern Independence, Africa Report N°159, 6 May 2010.
- Somalia's Divided Islamists, Africa Briefing N°74, 18 May 2010 (also available in Somali).

- Sudan: Defining the North-South Border, Africa Briefing N°75, 2 September 2010
- Eritrea: The Siege State, Africa Report N°163, 21 September 2010.
- Negotiating Sudan's North-South Future, Africa Briefing N°76, 23 November 2010
- Somalia: The Transitional Government on Life Support, Africa Report N°170, 21 February 2011.
- Politics and Transition in the New South Sudan, Africa Briefing N°172, 04 April 2011

Southern Africa

- Zimbabwe: Prospects from a Flawed Election, Africa Report N°138, 20 March 2008.
- Negotiating Zimbabwe's Transition, Africa Briefing N°51, 21 May 2008.
- Ending Zimbabwe's Nightmare: A Possible Way Forward, Africa Briefing N°56, 16 December 2008.
- Zimbabwe: Engaging the Inclusive Government, Africa Briefing N°59, 20 April 2009.
- Zimbabwe: Political and Security Challenges to the Transition, Africa Briefing N°70, 3 March 2010.
- Madagascar: sortir du cycle de crises, Africa Report N°156, 18 March 2010.
- Madagascar: la crise à un tournant critique?, Africa Report N°166, 18 November 2010.
- Zimbabwe: The Road to Reform or Another Dead End, Africa Report N°173, 27 April 2011.

West Africa

- Côte d'Ivoire: Ensuring Credible Elections, Africa Report N°139, 22 April 2008 (only available in French).
- Guinea: Ensuring Democratic Reforms, Africa Briefing N°52, 24 June 2008 (also available in French).
- Guinea-Bissau: In Need of a State, Africa Report N°142, 2 July 2008 (also available in French).
- Sierra Leone: A New Era of Reform?, Africa Report N°143, 31 July 2008.
- Nigeria: Ogoni Land after Shell, Africa Briefing N°54, 18 September 2008.

- Liberia: Uneven Progress in Security Sector Reform, Africa Report N°148, 13 January 2009.
- Guinea-Bissau: Building a Real Stability Pact, Africa Briefing N°57, 29 January 2009 (also available in French).
- Guinea: The Transition Has Only Just Begun, Africa Briefing N°58, 5 March 2009 (also available in French).
- Nigeria: Seizing the Moment in the Niger Delta, Africa Briefing N°60, 30 April 2009.
- Guinea-Bissau: Beyond Rule of the Gun, Africa Briefing N°61, 25 June 2009 (also available in Portuguese).
- Côte d'Ivoire: What's Needed to End the Crisis, Africa Briefing N°62, 2 July 2009 (also available in French).
- Guinea: Military Rule Must End, Africa Briefing N°66, 16 October 2009 (also available in French).
- Côte d'Ivoire: sécuriser le processus électoral, Africa Report N°158, 5 May 2010.
- Cameroon: Fragile State?, Africa Report N°160, 25 May 2010 (also available in French).
- Cameroon: The Dangers of a Fracturing Regime, Africa Report N°161, 24 June 2010 (also available in French).
- Guinea: Reforming the Army, Africa Report N°164, 23 September 2010 (also available in French).
- Côte d'Ivoire: Sortir enfin de l'ornière?, Africa Briefing N°77, 25 November 2010 (only available in French).
- Northern Nigeria: Background to Conflict, Africa Report N°168, 20 December 2010.
- Nigeria's Elections: Reversing the Degeneration?, Africa Briefing N°79, 24 February 2011.
- Côte d'Ivoire : faut-il se résoudre à la guerre ?, Africa Report N°171, 3 March 2011 (also available in English).

APPENDIX F

INTERNATIONAL CRISIS GROUP BOARD OF TRUSTEES

CHAIR

Thomas R Pickering

Former U.S. Ambassador to the UN, Russia, India, Israel, Jordan, El Salvador and Nigeria; Vice Chairman of Hills & Company

PRESIDENT & CEO

Louise Arbour

Former UN High Commissioner for Human Rights and Chief Prosecutor for the International Criminal Tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Morton Abramowitz

Former U.S. Assistant Secretary of State and Ambassador to Turkey

Cheryl Carolus

Former South African High Commissioner to the UK and Secretary General of the ANC

Maria Livanos Cattaui

Member of the Board, Petroplus Holdings, Switzerland

Yoichi Funabashi

Former Editor in Chief, *The Asahi Shimbun*, Japan

Frank Giustra

President & CEO, Fiore Capital

Ghassan Salamé

Dean, Paris School of International Affairs, Sciences Po

George Soros

Chairman, Open Society Institute

Pär Stenbäck

Former Foreign Minister of Finland

OTHER BOARD MEMBERS

Adnan Abu-Odeh

Former Political Adviser to King Abdullah II and to King Hussein, and Jordan Permanent Representative to the UN

Kenneth Adelman

Former U.S. Ambassador and Director of the Arms Control and Disarmament Agency

Kofi Annan

Former Secretary-General of the United Nations; Nobel Peace Prize (2001)

Nahum Barnea

Chief Columnist for Yedioth Ahronoth, Israel

Samuel Berger

Chair, Albright Stonebridge Group LLC; Former U.S. National Security Advisor

Emma Bonino

Vice President of the Senate; Former Minister of International Trade and European Affairs of Italy and European Commissioner for Humanitarian Aid

Wesley Clark

Former NATO Supreme Allied Commander, Europe

Sheila Coronel

Toni Stabile, Professor of Practice in Investigative Journalism; Director, Toni Stabile Center for Investigative Journalism, Columbia University, U.S.

Jan Egeland

Director, Norwegian Institute of International Affairs; Former Under-Secretary-General for Humanitarian Affairs and Emergency Relief Coordinator, United Nations

Uffe Ellemann-Jensen

Former Foreign Minister of Denmark

Gareth Evans

President Emeritus of Crisis Group; Former Foreign Affairs Minister of Australia

Mark Eyskens

Former Prime Minister of Belgium

Joshua Fink

CEO & Chief Investment Officer, Enso Capital Management LLC

Joschka Fischer

Former Foreign Minister of Germany

Jean-Marie Guéhenno

Arnold Saltzman Professor of War and Peace Studies, Columbia University; Former UN Under-Secretary-General for Peacekeeping Operations

Carla Hills

Former U.S. Secretary of Housing and U.S. Trade Representative

Lena Hjelm-Wallén

Former Deputy Prime Minister and Foreign Affairs Minister of Sweden

Swanee Hunt

Former U.S. Ambassador to Austria; Chair, Institute for Inclusive Security; President, Hunt Alternatives Fund

Mo Ihrahim

Founder and Chair, Mo Ibrahim Foundation; Founder, Celtel International

lgor Ivanov

Former Foreign Affairs Minister of the Russian Federation

Asma Jahangir

President of the Supreme Court Bar Association of Pakistan, Former UN Special Rapporteur on the Freedom of Religion or Belief

Wim Kok

Former Prime Minister of the Netherlands

Ricardo Lagos

Former President of Chile

Joanne Leedom-Ackerman

Former International Secretary of International PEN; Novelist and journalist, U.S.

Lord (Mark) Malloch-Brown

Former Administrator of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and UN Deputy Secretary-General

Lalit Mansingh

Former Foreign Secretary of India, Ambassador to the U.S. and High Commissioner to the UK

Jessica Tuchman Mathews

President, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, U.S.

Benjamin Mkapa

Former President of Tanzania

Moisés Naím

Senior Associate, International Economics Program, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace; former Editor in Chief, Foreign Policy

Ayo Obe

Legal Practitioner, Lagos, Nigeria

Paul Reynolds

President & Chief Executive Officer, Canaccord Financial Inc.; Vice Chair, Global Head of Canaccord Genuity

Güler Sabancı

Chairperson, Sabancı Holding, Turkey

Javier Solana

Former EU High Representative for the Common Foreign and Security Policy, NATO Secretary-General and Foreign Affairs Minister of Spain

Lawrence Summers

Former Director of the US National Economic Council and Secretary of the US Treasury; President Emeritus of Harvard University

PRESIDENT'S COUNCIL

A distinguished group of individual and corporate donors providing essential support and expertise to Crisis Group.

Canaccord Finacial Inc. Steve Killelea **Harry Pokrandt** Mala Gaonkar George Landegger Ian Telfer **Frank Holmes Neil Woodyer Ford Nicholson**

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Individual and corporate supporters who play a key role in Crisis Group's efforts to prevent deadly conflict.

APCO Worldwide Inc. Stanley Bergman & Edward

Bergman

Harry Bookey & Pamela **Bass-Bookey**

Chevron

Neil & Sandy DeFeo **Equinox Partners**

Fares I. Fares **Neemat Frem Seth Ginns**

Rita E. Hauser Joseph Hotung

lara Lee & George Gund III Foundation

George Kellner Amed Khan Faisel Khan Zelmira Koch Polk

Elliott Kulick Liquidnet

Jean Manas

McKinsey & Company **Harriet Mouchly-Weiss**

Näringslivets

Yves Oltramare

Internationella Råd (NIR) -International Council of Swedish Industry

Anna Luisa Ponti & **Geoffrey Hoguet**

Michael Riordan

Shell Statoil

Belinda Stronach Talisman Energy Tilleke & Gibbins **Kevin Torudag VIVA Trust**

Grigory Yavlinski

Ernesto Zedill

Uta Zapf

Yapı Merkezi Construction and Industry Inc.

SENIOR ADVISERS

Former Board Members who maintain an association with Crisis Group, and whose advice and support are called on (to the extent consistent with any other office they may be holding at the time).

Martti Ahtisaari Chairman Emeritus **George Mitchell** Chairman Emeritus HRH Prince Turki al-Faisal **Hushang Ansary** Óscar Arias Ersin Arıoğlu **Richard Armitage** Diego Arria Zainab Bangura Shlomo Ben-Ami **Christoph Bertram** Alan Blinken Lakhdar Brahimi Zbigniew Brzezinski Kim Campbell

Eugene Chien Joaquim Alberto Chissano Victor Chu

Jorge Castañeda

Naresh Chandra

Mong Joon Chung

Pat Cox

Gianfranco Dell'Alba **Jacques Delors Alain Destexhe** Mou-Shih Ding **Gernot Erler** Marika Fahlén Stanley Fischer

I.K. Gujral Max Jakobson James V. Kimsey Aleksander Kwasniewski **Todung Mulya Lubis**

Malcolm Fraser

Allan J. MacEachen Graça Machel

Nobuo Matsunaga Barbara McDougall Matthew McHugh Miklós Németh **Christine Ockrent**

Timothy Ong Olara Otunnu

Lord (Christopher) Patten

Shimon Peres Victor Pinchuk Surin Pitsuwan Cyril Ramaphosa Fidel V. Ramos George Robertson Michel Rocard Volker Rüehe **Mohamed Sahnoun** Salim A. Salim Douglas Schoen

Christian Schwarz-Schilling

Michael Sohlman Thorvald Stoltenberg William O. Taylor Leo Tindemans Ed van Thijn Simone Veil Shirley Williams